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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

| TEM 1. F INANCIAL S TATEMENTS

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as tGerhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersagthe “Operating
Partnership,” (3) the Company’s common stock agti@won Stock,” (4) the Operating Partnership’s commparinership interests as
“Common Units” and (5) the Operating Partnershrsferred partnership interests as “Preferred Units

The information furnished in the accompanying Cdidsted Balance Sheets, Statements of OperatidaaterSent of Stockholders’
Equity and Statements of Cash Flows reflect allstifjients (consisting of normal recurring accrudda) are, in our opinion, necessary for a
fair presentation of the aforementioned financiatements for the interim period.

The aforementioned financial statements shouldehd in conjunction with the notes to consolidatedrfcial statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations included heagid in our 2003 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited and $ in thousands except per share r@isjou

December 31
March 31,
2004 2003
(Unaudited)
Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land and improvemen $ 443,61 $ 397,15(
Buildings and tenant improvemet 3,093,09. 2,912,48!
Development in proces 9,071 6,89¢
Land held for developme! 199,22¢ 196,62(
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 21,95( 21,81¢
3,766,95. 3,534,971
Less—accumulated depreciatic (566,489 (542,329
Net real estate ass¢ 3,200,46! 2,992,64!
Property held for sal 38,46 55,45:
Cash and cash equivalel 17,00: 18,56«
Restricted cas 8,04« 6,32(
Accounts receivable, n 10,73: 17,823
Notes receivabl 24,30¢ 24,62
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl 54,73: 51,18¢
Investments in unconsolidated affilial 68,55 74,66¢
Other assets
Deferred leasing cos 114,68 110,48t
Deferred financing cos 46,39¢ 46,19¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 14,281 13,79¢
175,37( 170,48t
Less—accumulated amortizatic (89,15% (84,965
Other assets, n 86,21" 85,52(
Total Assets $3,508,52. $3,326,80!
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $1,767,23' $1,558,75!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied 108,19¢ 111,77.
Total Liabilities 1,875,43 1,670,53I
Minority interest 161,88« 165,25(
Stockholder Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 auwthdrshares; 8 5/8% Series A Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Shares (liquidation prefer®h@0 per share), 104,945 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2004 and December 31, 104,94! 104,94!
8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sayeslation preference $25 per share),
6,900,000 shares issued and outstanding at MarchO®% and December 31, 20 172,50( 172,50(
8% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sliage&lation preference $250 per share),
400,000 shares issued and outstanding at Marck0®4, and December 31, 20 100,00( 100,00(
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 53,631,176 and 53,474,403 share:
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2004 and Deee&1h 2003, respective 53€ 53t
Additional paic-in capital 1,400,31! 1,393,10:
Distributions in excess of net earnir (296,539) (271,97)
Accumulated other comprehensive | (3,525 (3,650
Deferred compensatic (7,032) (4,437
Total Stockholder' Equity 1,471,20. 1,491,02!




Total Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity $3,508,52. $3,326,80!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited and $ in thousands, except per sharei@tsio

Rental revenue

Operating expenses:
Rental propert
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrative (includes $4,638 retmeincompensation expense in 20

Total operating expens

Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Other income:
Interest and other incon
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income before gain/(loss) on disposition of land @hdepreciable assets, minority interest and discoimued
operations
Gain on disposition of lan
(Loss)/gain on disposition and impairment of dejaigle assets, ni

Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations
Minority interest

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi
Gain/(loss) on sale of discontinued operationspheatinority interes

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net (loss)/income attributable to common stockholds
Net (loss)/income per common share — basic:

Loss from continuing operatiol

Income from discontinued operatia

Net (loss)/incom

Weighted average common shares outstan- basic
Net (loss)/income per common shar- diluted:

Loss from continuing operatiol

Income from discontinued operatia

Net (loss)/incom

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2004 2003
$108,62: $103,92-
39,16¢ 35,94(
34,31¢ 32,03(
12,167 5,34¢
85,64¢ 73,31¢
26,05% 27,67¢
85t 62€
26,91 28,30(
3,34¢ 2,85¢
1,40z 1,761
4,74¢ 4,62(
81C 6,93(
1,13¢ 863
(55) 20
1,89: 7,81:
(231) (939)
1,662 6,87¢
667 4,467
3,55¢ (170
4,22z 4,297
5,88¢ 11,17
(7,719 (7,719
$ (1,829 $ 3,45¢
$ (011 $ (0.09
0.0¢ 0.0¢
$ (009 $ 0.0¢
53,54 53,42¢
$ (011 $ (0.09
0.0¢ 0.0¢
$ (009 $ 0.0¢




Weighted average common shares outstan- diluted 53,54 53,47¢

Dividends declared per common sh $ 0.42¢ $ 0.58¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Balance at December 31, 2003

Issuance of Common Stock

Conversion of Common Units to Common St
Common Stock Dividends

Preferred Stock dividends

Issuance of restricted stock

Fair value of stock options issu

Amortization of deferred compensation
Other comprehensive income

Net Income

Balance at March 31, 2004

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited and $ in thousands except share amounts)
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2004

Deferred Accumulated

Distributions

Common P?z;:feg Psrgzaer?e?j P?z;:fea Addi_tional Other in Excess of
Paid-In Compen- Compre- Net
Stock Capital sation hensive Lost Earnings Total
$ 53t  $104,94! $ 172,50 $100,00( $1,393,100 $ (4,437 $ (3,650 $ (271,97) $1,491,02!
— — — — 32C — — — 32C
— — — — 1,40¢ — — — 1,40¢
— — — — — — — (22,739 (22,739
— — — — — — — (7,719 (7,719
1 — — — 2,63 (2,639 — — —
— — — — 2,85¢ (2,855 — — —
— — — — — 2,89( — — 2,89(
— — — — — — 12t — 12t
— — — — — — — 5,88¢ 5,88¢
$ 53€ $104,94! $172,50( $ 100,00 $1,400,31 $ (7,03) $ (3,525 $ (296,53¢) $1,471,20.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Income from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing @iens to net cash provided by operating actisi

Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred compensati
Amortization of deferred financing cos

(Unaudited and in thousands)

Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Gain on disposition of land and depreciable as
Minority interest
Discontinued operatior

Changes in operating assets and liabili

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate ass:

Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliat
Investments in notes receival
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Other investing activitie

Net cash used in investing activiti

Financing activities:

Distributions paid on common stock and common
Dividends paid on preferred sto

Net proceeds from the sale of common si
Repurchase of common stock and common 1
Borrowings on revolving loa

Repayment of revolving log

Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi
Repayment of mortgages and notes pay

Net change in deferred financing cc

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢b

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for intere:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,

2004 2003
1,66: $ 6,87¢
34,31¢ 32,03(
2,89( 372
85t 62€
21C 437
(1,407) (1,767
(1,087 (882)
231 93¢
773 6,30¢
(25€) (6,13
38,19¢ 38,80¢
(93,56¢) (26,286
21,77¢ 2,38¢
1,832 4,93¢
1,12¢ (1,020

(9,98¢) —
(22) (204)
(78,84)) (20,18¢)
(25,36¢) (35,24%)
(7,719 (7,719
32C 12¢
(50) (2,75))
175,50( 68,00(
(100,000 (32,000
— 2,19(C
(3,226) (4,419
(379) 1,382
39,08¢ (10,43))
(1,56%) 8,187
18,56¢ 11,017
17,00! $ 19,20«
$ 20,79 $ 21,44¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net assets aed@iubject to mortgage notes payable and othecash transactions:

Assets:

Net real estate asse

Restricted cas

Accounts receivabl

Notes receivabl

Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat
Deferred financing cos

Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Three Months Ended

March 31,

2004 2003

$149,53! $ —

1,651 —

(47¢€) —

814 —

82¢ —
(15,697 1,69¢
— 17,81(
$136,66( $19,50¢
$136,20° $17,81(
458 1,69¢
$136,66( $19,50¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2004
(Unaudited)

1. D ESCRIPTION OF B USINESS
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) is d-eelministered and self-managed real estate invergtinust (“REIT”) that operates
in the southeastern and midwestern United States Cbompany’s wholly-owned assets include: 468 mise office, industrial and retail
properties; 1,255 acres of undeveloped land swaitilfuture development; and an additional fowpgrties under development.

The Company conducts substantially all of its atifig through, and substantially all of its intéseis the properties are held directly or
indirectly by, Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersiiipe “Operating Partnership”). The Company issbke general partner of the Operating
Partnership. At March 31, 2004, the Company owr@ % of the preferred partnership interests (‘&trefd Units”) and 89.7% of the
common partnership interests (“Common Units”) ia @perating Partnership. During the three montlieéMarch 31, 2004, the Company
redeemed from limited partners (including certdiiters and directors of the Company) 1,960 Comrdaits for $0.05 million in cash and
redeemed 54,308 Common Units in exchange for Conmatock on a one-for-one basis. These transactimmeased the percentage of
Common Units owned by the Company from 88.9% atebdwer 31, 2003 to 89.7% at March 31, 2004. HoldeéBommon Units may
redeem them for the cash value of one share dEdmepany’s Common Stock, $.01 par value (the “Com&tartk”), or, at the Company’s
option, one share of Common Stock. The three sefi@seferred Units in the Operating Partnershipewssued to the Company in connec
with the Companys three Preferred Stock offerings in 1997 and 198@.net proceeds raised from each of the threferPed Stock issuanc
were contributed by the Company to the Operatimgneeship in exchange for preferred interests e@perating Partnership. The terms of
each series of Preferred Units generally pardikelterms of the respective Preferred Stock asvidethds, liquidation and redemption rights.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and the Operating Partreesid their majority-controlled
affiliates. All significant intercompany balancesdaransactions have been eliminated in the catestgld financial statements.

The Company has elected and expects to contingeaiify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of
1986 (the “Code”), as amended. Therefore, no pimvikas been made for income taxes related to Rixdble income to be distributed to
shareholders. In June 1994, the Company formexadble REIT subsidiary, as permitted under the Ctiteugh which it conducts certain
business activities; the taxable REIT subsidiarsuisject to federal and state income taxes oreitsaxable income and the Company records
provisions for such taxes to the extent requirexktan its income recognized for financial statarpenposes, including the effects of
temporary differences between such income and#cagnized for tax purposes.

Minority interest represents Common Units in thee@ping Partnership owned by various individuald antities other than the
Company. The Operating Partnership directly and@atly owns substantially all of the Company’s pedies and is the entity through which
the Company, as the sole general partner, condub&antially all of its operations. Per sharerimfation is calculated using the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock outstgrfoticluding common share equivalents).

Certain amounts in the March 31, 2003 and Decer@bg?003 financial statements included in this @rr Report have been
reclassified to conform to the March 31, 2004 pnéestion. These reclassifications had no effect@tnimcome or stockholders’ equity as
previously reported in the Company’s audited Cadatéd Financial Statements included in the Comjsa2§03 Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. D ESCRIPTION OF B usiNess—Continued

The accompanying financial information has not baedited, but in the opinion of management, allsiipents (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) necessary for a fair preseartadf our financial position, results of operati@ml cash flows have been made. The
Company has condensed or omitted certain notestied information from the interim financial statemts presented in this Quarterly Re,
on Form 10-Q. These financial statements shouleae in conjunction with the Company’s 2003 AnnRaport on Form 10-K.

Options and warrants totaling 524,000 that coulgpiially dilute basic earnings per share in tharewere excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share for kiree months ended March 31, 2004 because theat effes anti-dilutive.

The preparation of financial statements in accacdamith Generally Accepted Accounting PrincipleSfAP”) requires management
make estimates and assumptions that affect the r@oeported in the financial statements and acemyipg notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES

The Company has various investments in joint varstwith unrelated investors. The Company has redaminority equity interests
ranging from 12.50% to 50.00% in these joint veasuAs required by GAAP, the Company has accouoteits joint venture activity using
the equity method of accounting, as the Companyg doé control these joint ventures and, as of M&¥LH2004, the joint ventures were not
deemed variable interest entities. As a resultagsets and liabilities of the Company’s joint wees are not included on its Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

10
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES —Continued

The following table sets forth information regamglithe Company’s joint venture activity as recordadhe respective joint venture’s
books for the three months ended March 31, 20042808 ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 Three Months Ended March 31, 2003
Perceni
Owned Revenue OPErating |nierest Net  pevenue OPerating nierest Net
Depr/ Income/ Depr/ Income/
Expenses Amort  (Loss) Expenses Amort  (Loss)

Income Statement Data:

Board of Trade Investment Company 49.0% $ 632$ 434%$  14% 11z $ 73 % 60€$ 39E$  17$ 10C$ 96
Dallas County Partners (1) 50.0% 2,547 1,524 68C 464 (121) 2,411 1,41( 69t 472 (16€)
Dallas County Partners Il (: 50.0%  1,59¢ 711 57C 18€ 12¢ 1,56¢€ 68¢ 59¢ 20€ 72
Fountain Three (1) 50.0%  1,83¢ 83t 53€ 37¢ 84 1,76: 76C 572 35€ 75
RRHWoods, LLC (1) 50.00% 3,311 1,87¢ 675 851 (89 3,507 1,791 67 835 20€
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( 26.5(% 1,53¢ 1,22¢ — 174 13E 1,397 1,16( — 15¢ 78
4600 Madison Associates, LP 125(% 1,21t 562 287 421 (55) 1,49 592 29¢ 394 20€
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP 22.8%  4,96( 1,34¢ 1,137 88C 1,597 4,64: 1,346 1,15:¢ 862 1,28(
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP 42.99%  3,79¢ 1,00t 1,14C 1,08: 56€ 4,182 1,12¢ 1,152 1,001 90€
Highwood«-Markel Associates, LL( 50.0% 1,671 38t 58€ 36€ 33z 812 438 23¢ 143 (7)
MG-HIW, LLC (2) 20.00%  4,74¢ 1,86¢ 83€ 97¢ 1,06€ 12,29: 4,38¢ 2,326 2,34« 3,23¢
MG-HIW Peachtree Corners ll, LLC (2) 50.0(% — — — — — 34 25 25 19 (35)
MG-HIW Metrowest I, LLC (2) 50.0(% — 5 — — (5) — 8 — — 8)
MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC (2) 50.0(% 141 88 39 70 (56) 123 10¢ 44 79 (109)
Concourse Center Associates, LLC 50.0(% 52€ 141 17E 85 12E 52€ 138 172 76 13¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 1 — — 1 — 4 — 1 — 3
SF-HIW Harborview, LP 20.0(% 1,39¢ 46€ 351 21€ 36C 1,41¢ 408 351 217 442
Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LP (3) 40.0(% 32€ 97 — 46 183 — — — — —
Total $30,23t$ 12,57:$ 7,02¢$ 6,31t $ 4,32f $36,78($ 14,78($ 8,32($ 7,26:% 6,417

(1) Des Moines joint ventures.

(2) See Note 3, Acquisition of Joint Venture Assats Equity Interests, for discussion of the Conyfmacquisition of these joint venture assets.

(3) The Company and Kapital-Consult, a Europeaesitwment firm, formed this joint venture partnershvpich on February 26, 2004 acquired GlenridgenPOifice Park, consisting of
two office buildings aggregating 185,000 squaré feeated in the Central Perimeter sub-market ddmta. The buildings are 91.1% occupied as of M&th2004. The acquisition
also includes 2.9 acres of development land thatacaommodate 150,000 square feet of office spdwe Company contributed $10.0 million to the joienture in return for a 40.C
equity interest and Kapital-Consult contributed $1#ahillion for a 60.0% equity interest in the patship. The joint venture intends to enter intdl&.% million 10-year secured loan
on the assets. The Company will be the sole anldigive manager and leasing agent for this propamtywill receive customary management fees andngasmmissions.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretationd6o(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable IntereEntities” (“VIES”), the primary
objective of which is to provide guidance on thentification of entities for which control is ackiedl through means other than voting rights
and to determine when and which business enterghiseld consolidate the VIEs. This new model agpliben either (1) the equity investors
(if any) do not have a controlling financial intster (2) the equity investment at risk is insuéfitt to finance the entity’s activities without
additional financial support. FIN 46 also requiagklitional disclosures. FIN 46 was effective imnagelly for interests acquired subsequent to
January 31, 2003 and is effective March 31, 2004nterests in VIEs created before February 1, 200& Company assessed its variable
interests, including the joint ventures listed adycand determined the interests were not VIEs atMal, 2004. As a result, the provisions of
FIN 46 did not have an impact on the Company’srfaial condition or results of operations.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

3. A CQUISITION OF J OINT V ENTURE A SSETS ANDE QUITY | NTERESTS

On July 29, 2003, the Company acquired the asgef®iits partner’s 80.0% equity interest related% properties encompassing 1.3
million square feet owned by MG-HIW, LLC. The profies are located in Atlanta, Raleigh and Tampao/ds part of the MG-HIW, LLC
acquisition on July 29, 2003, the Company was assidMiller Global's 50.0% equity interest in thaegle property encompassing 53,896
square feet owned by MG-HIW Peachtree Corner$ LIC.

Additionally, as part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisiticon July 29, 2003, the Company entered into aioopigreement with its partner,
Miller Global, to acquire their 50.0% interest Iretassets of MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC and MG-HIW Mawest I, LLC. On March 2,
2004, the Company exercised the option and pajshitsier $3.2 million for such remaining interesthe assets of MG-HIW Metrowest |,
LLC and MGHIW Metrowest I, LLC. A $7.4 million constructioloan was paid in full by the Company. The asset®oempass 87,832 squi
feet of property and 7.0 acres of development lamked for the development of 90,000 square feeffife space.

On July 29, 2003, the Company also entered intopdion agreement to acquire Miller GlokaB0.0% interest in the remaining asse
MG-HIW, LLC. The remaining assets of MG-HIW, LLC vesfive properties encompassing 1.3 million sqdeet located in the central
business district of Orlando (“Orlando propertie€©h March 2, 2004, the Company exercised the oia paid its partner, Miller Global,
$62.5 million and assumed $136.2 million of flogtiate debt with interest based on LIBOR plus 2&@8i$points. A $7.5 million letter of
credit was also cancelled. The transaction imgligaluation (100.0% ownership) of $214.3 milliorttwiespect to these assets, which
includes the properties and other net assets gbihieventure. The Company accounted for the aitjon in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 141. The fair values assigned to the ifiabte tangible and intangible assets and liab#itare preliminary as the Company is
evaluating the fair values and allocation of costanagement does not believe that any adjustmeunldi@ve a material effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operatioThe results of operations subsequent to Mar24 are included in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the deximled March 31, 2004.

In January 2004, the Company signed a non-binditigrlof intent with Kapital-Consult, manager fareidander-Fonds, a European
investment firm, under which Kapital-Consult witquire a 60.0% equity interest in the Orlando prtge for approximately $45.5 million,
excluding certain development rights to be retaimgthe Company. The joint venture intends to ifite the existing debt on the properties
with a $143.0 million 10-year fixed rate loan. Irder to lock the interest rate on the new debtptmties paid a $2.9 million deposit, $1.2
million of which was paid by the Company. Althoutle joint venture transaction is subject to docutaiteon and other closing conditions, it
is expected to close no later than the end ofé¢lersd quarter of 2004.

12
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

4. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company has previously reported that it hasshaghtract to acquire development land in the @lags Valley office development
project from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controllegldn executive officer and director of the Compadyg.January 17, 2003, the Company
acquired an additional 23.5 acres of this land fB&PI, Inc. for cash and shares of Common Stockedht $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0
acres of the remaining acres not yet acquired &yCibimpany was taken by the Georgia Departmentarisportation to develop a roadway
interchange for consideration of $1.8 million. Thepartment of Transportation took possession dleddti the property in June 2003. As part
of the terms of the contract between the CompandyGAPI, Inc., the Company was entitled to the pedlsefrom the condemnation of $1.8
million, less the contracted purchase price betwwberCompany and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned ptgpd $0.7 million. On September
30, 2003, as a result of the condemnation, the @oampeceived the proceeds of $1.8 million. A relgtarty payable of $0.7 million to GAF
Inc. related to the condemnation of the developrteantt is included in accounts payable, accruedresgeand other liabilities in the
Company'’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at March @14 .2

5. D ERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The interest rates on all of the Company’s variaate debt are currently adjusted at one to threstimintervals, subject to settlements
under interest rate hedge contracts. Net paymeadie o counter parties under interest rate hedgieamis were nominal in 2004 and were
recorded as increases to interest expense.

In addition, the Company is exposed to certainds$s the event of non-performance by the couraelypunder the interest rate hedge
contracts. The Company expects the counter pahighais a major financial institution, to performlfy under the contracts. However, if the
counter party was to default on its obligationsemtie interest rate hedge contracts, the Compauld de required to pay the full rates on its
debt, even if such rates were in excess of theimdtee contracts.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Coynpatered into and subsequently terminated threedst rate swap agreements
related to a teryear fixed rate financing completed on Decemb&0D3. These swap agreements were designated aiavastedges and tr
unamortized effective portion of the cumulativergan these derivative instruments was $3.7 milibMarch 31, 2004 and is being reported
as a component of AOCL in stockholders’ equity.sTdéferred gain is being recognized in net incosa geduction of interest expense in the
same period or periods during which interest expamsthe hedged fixed rate financing effects nedrime. The Company expects that
approximately $0.3 million will be recognized irethext 12 months.

In 2003, the Company also entered into two inteegst swaps related to a floating rate credit itgcilThe swaps effectively fix the one
month LIBOR rate on $20.0 million of floating radebt at 1.59% from January 2, 2004 until May 3020 hese swap agreements are
designated as cash flow hedges and the effectitmpamf the cumulative loss on these derivativ&rimments was $0.06 million at March 31,
2004. The Company expects that the portion of threutative loss recorded in AOCL at March 31, 208doziated with these derivative
instruments, which will be recognized within thexn&2 months, will be approximately $0.07 million.

At March 31, 2004, approximately $5.8 million offdeed financing costs from past cash flow hedgimsgruments remain in AOCL,
including those described above. These costs aognized as interest expense as the underlyingisledpaid and amounted to $0.2 million
and $0.4 million during the quarters ended March2BD4 and 2003, respectively. The Company expkatghe portion of the cumulative
loss recorded in AOCL at March 31, 2004 associafifitl these derivative instruments, which will beagnized within the next 12 months,
will be approximately $0.8 million.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

6. O THER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net incousetipé results of certain non-stockholders’ eqciitgnges not reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The compsmémther comprehensive income are as followsh@usands):

Three Months

Ended
March 31,

2004 2003

Net income $5,88¢ $11,17:
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized derivative losses on cashflow hec (85) —
Amortization of hedging gains and losses includedther comprehensive incor 21C 437
Total other comprehensive incor 12t 437
Total comprehensive incon $6,00¢  $11,60¢

7. D ISCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG-L IVED A SSETS

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 “Aeting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-LivAdsets.” SFAS 144
supercedes SFAS No. 121 “Accounting for the Impaitrof Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Asstetde disposed of” and the
accounting and reporting provisions for disposéla segment of business as addressed in APB 30ofkeg the Results of Operations-
Reporting the Effects of the Disposal of a Segneémt Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and ¢pfeatly Occurring Events and
Transactions.”

The net operating results and net carrying valug ofnillion square feet of property, 122.8 acresesenue-producing land and 4
apartment units sold during 2004 and 2003 and @lbmsquare feet of property and 88 apartmentaheld for sale at March 31, 2004 are
shown in the following table. These were a restittisposal activities that were initiated subseduerthe effective date of SFAS 144 and are
classified as discontinued operations in the ComisaBonsolidated Statements of Operations (in thods):

Three Months

Ended
March 31,
2004 2003

Total revenue $1,22¢ $ 9,04¢
Rental operating expens 451 2,31C
Depreciation and amortizatic 29 1,26¢
Interest expens — 42¢
Income before gain on sale of discontinued opematand minority intere: 744 5,04z

Minority interest 77 57t
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 667 4,46
Gain/(loss) on sale/impairment of discontinued apens 3,96t (192
Minority interest in the Operating Partners (410 22
Gain/(loss) on sale/impairment of discontinued afiens, net of minority intere 3,55¢ (170
Total discontinued operatiol $4,22: $ 4,29i

Carrying value of assets includeddiscontinued operations that were held for saldarsbld during the peria $21,53¢ $237,98°
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

7. D1SCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG -L IVED A sseTs- Continued

In addition, SFAS 144 requires that a long-livededslassified as held for sale be measured dbwer of the carrying value or fair
value less cost to sell. During the three montltedriMarch 31, 2004, the Company determined thatroperties held for sale had a carrying
value that was greater than fair value less coseliptherefore, no impairment loss was recognirndtie Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the three months ended March 314.286r 2003, the impairment loss related to twacefproperties whose carrying value
was greater than their fair value less cost tq saidich have now been sold, was $0.3 million, fehmority interest. This impairment loss is
included in loss on sale of discontinued operatiarthe Consolidated Statements of Operationshfetiiree months ended March 31, 2003.

See Note 11 for discussion of a subsequent eveolving an agreement to sell certain assets atlthbwoods Preserve office campus
in Tampa, Florida and 26.0 acres of land in subuiatimore, Maryland and related impairment logbes will be recognized in the second
quarter of 2004.

SFAS 144 also requires that if indicators of impegnt exist, the carrying value of a long-lived astassified as held for use be
compared to the sum of its estimated future undistaml cash flows. If the carrying value is greétan the sum of its undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment loss should be recogri@ethe excess of the carrying amount of the aseget its estimated fair value. At March
31, 2004 and 2003, because there were no propbgidgor use with a carrying value exceeding tma f their estimated undiscounted
future cash flows, no impairment loss related tiol fier use properties was recognized during theglmonths ended March 31, 2004 and
2003.

8. STock - BASED C OMPENSATION

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accountandard No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-based Censation — Transition and
Disclosure” (“SFAS 148"), the Company has inclu&d05 million of amortization related to the vegtof stock options granted subsequent
to January 1, 2003 and 0.15 million related torttualifications made to those options that are inetlith the CEO’s retirement package (see
note 11) for further discussion in general and adktriative expenses in its Consolidated Stateme@perations. In addition, the Company
has included the total value of option grants siheg date, which through March 31, 2004 aggrefjate million, in stockholdersquity in its
Consolidated Balance Sheet. See below for the aradliat would have been deducted from net incortteeiCompany had elected to
expense the fair value of all stock option awahdg had vested rather than only those awards issuteskquent to January 1, 2003:

Three Months
Ended
March 31,

2004 2003

($ in thousands, except
per share amounts)

Net (loss)/income attributable to common stockhi- as reportes $(1,829) $3,45¢
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedimeame 181(1) 5
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufadevalue recognition method for all awal (331(2) (15¢)
Pro forma net (loss)/income attributable to comrstmtkholder: $(1,979) $3,30¢
Basic net (loss)/income per common sk- as reporte: $ (0.09) $ 0.0¢
Basic net (loss)/income per common sk- pro forma $ (0.09) $ 0.0€
Diluted net (loss)/income per common sh- as reportel $ (0.09) $ 0.0¢
Diluted net (loss)/income per common sh- pro forma $ (0.09 $ 0.0¢

(1) Certain options related to the retirement pgekaf the Company’s CEO granted prior to JanuaB003 have been excluded from the
calculation. These options were remeasured andcherpeduring the three months ended March 31, 20@4dordance with APB 25.
See Note 9 for further discussic
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

9. C OMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equiveleestments at financial institutions. The combiaedount balances at each
institution typically exceed the FDIC insurance emge and, as a result, there is a concentratioredit risk related to amounts on deposit in
excess of FDIC insurance coverage. ManagemenedEtdmpany believes that the risk is not significant

Contracts

The Company has entered into contracts relateghtant improvements and the development of certaipguties totaling $25.2 million
as of March 31, 2004. The amounts remaining toaie pnder these contracts as of March 31, 2004etbtl7.1 million.

Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company’s in-service pndigs have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain
instances, Phase Il environmental assessmentd).888essments and/or updates have not revealed,management aware of, any
environmental liability that management believesilddhave a material adverse effect on the acconipgrpnsolidated financial statements.

Joint Ventures

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withfiiiated parties have buy/sell options that mayesercised to acquire the other
partner’s interest by either the Company or itatj@enture partner if certain conditions are mesetsforth in the respective joint venture
agreement. The Company’s partner in SF-HIW HarlgavyiLP has the right to put its 80.0% equity ins¢iia the partnership to the Company
in exchange for cash at anytime during the one-gednod commencing on September 11, 2014. As dtyéise Company has deferred a gain
of $1.9 million until the expiration of the put égh. The value of the equity interest will be detered based upon the then fair market value
of SF-HIW Harborview, LP assets and liabilities.

The Company has agreed to guarantee certain rerifals and re-tenanting costs for certain prapsrtontributed or sold to the joint
ventures. As of March 31, 2004, the Company has sfllion accrued for obligations related to theggeements. The Company believes that
its estimates related to these agreements are aigediowever, if its assumptions and estimateseptowbe incorrect, future losses may oc

Other Guarantees

The following is a discussion of the various guéees existing at March 31, 2004 that fall underitiitéal recognition and measurement
requirements of FASB Interpretation No. 45 “Guaeoaist Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for @ntees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45Re Tollowing discussion also includes those guassin existence prior to the January 1,
2003 effective date which only fall under the distire requirements of the Interpretation and ak,suxliability was recorded.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

9. C oMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

In connection with guarantees in place prior tauday 1, 2003 relating to the Des Moines joint veasy the maximum potential amount
of future payments the Company could be requirada&e under these guarantees is $25.3 millionhidfamount, $8.6 million arose from
housing revenue bonds that require credit enhanasneaddition to the real estate mortgages. Tl bear a floating interest rate, which
currently averages 0.96% and mature in 2015. Gtegarof $9.5 million will expire upon two industriauildings becoming 93.8% and 95.!
leased. Currently, these buildings are 90.0% an@%4eased, respectively. The remaining $7.2 mmilliloguarantees relate to loans on four
office buildings that were in the lease-up phaghatime the loans were initiated. Each of thetoaill expire by May 2008. The average
occupancy of the four buildings at March 31, 20092.0%. If the joint ventures are unable to rejp@youtstanding balance under the loans,
the Company will be required, under the terms efabgreements, to repay the outstanding balanceursprovisions exist to enable the
Company to recover some or all of its losses froenjoint ventures’ assets and/or the other parfites.joint ventures currently generate
sufficient cash flow to cover the debt service isggiby the loans. As a result, no liability hagbeecorded in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventutiege Company renewed its guarantee of $6.2 mittioa bank in July 2003. The
bank provides a letter of credit securing industéaenue bonds, which mature in 2015. The Compemyld be required to perform under-
guarantee should the joint venture be unable tayréipe bonds. The Company has recourse provisioosgier to recover from the joint
venture’s assets and the other partner for amqaitsin excess of their proportionate share. Tiopguty collateralizing the bonds is 100.0%
leased and currently generates sufficient cash ftomover the debt service required by the bonarfiing. As a result, no liability has been
recorded in the Company’s Consolidated BalancetShee

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint vestthe Company has included $2.8 million in offadilities and adjusted the
investment in unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8lianil on its Consolidated Balance Sheet at March2804 related to two separate guarantees
of a construction loan agreement and a constructompletion agreement. The construction loan matur&ebruary 2006, with two oryear
options to extend the maturity date that are camthd on completion and lease-up of the projece Trm of the construction completion
agreement requires the core and shell of the Imgjlth be completed by December 15, 2005. Currettitéybuilding is scheduled to be
completed in December 2004. Both guarantees arosethe formation of the joint venture to constrantoffice building. If the joint venture
is unable to repay the outstanding balance undecdhstruction loan agreement or complete the nortgin of the office building, the
Company would be required, under the terms of greeaments, to repay its 50.0% share of the outistgrichlance under the construction |
and complete the construction of the office buigdi®@n March 30, 2004, the Industrial Developmenthauty of the City of Kansas City,
Missouri issued $18.5 million in non-recourse botwifinance public improvements made by the joemture for the benefit of the Kansas
City Missouri Public Library. Since the joint vemnéuleases the land for the office building from libeary, the joint venture is obligated to
build certain public improvements. The net bondcpels of $16.3 million will be used to reimburse jitint venture for its costs. As funds
are transferred from the bond fund to the constndender, the Company’s exposure is reduced.riés@mum potential amount of future
payments by the Company under these agreemer223.i8 fillion if the construction loan is fully fued. No recourse provisions exist that
would enable the Company to recover from the gplagtner amounts paid under the guarantee. Howgivem that the loan is collateralized
by the building, the Company and their partner dmbitain and liquidate the building to recover éimeounts paid should the Company be
required to perform under the guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC constructaman and completion agreement described aboggaltners collectively provided
$12.0 million in letters of credit in December 2088.0 million by the Company and $6.0 million lby partner. The Company and its partner
would be held liable under the letter of creditesgnents should the joint venture not complete coctivn of the building. The letters of
credit expire in December 31, 2004. No recourseipians exist that would enable the Company tovecérom the other partner amounts
drawn under the letter of credit.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

9. C oMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued
Dispositions

In connection with the disposition of 225,220 sgufet of property in 2002, fully leased to Capidale Services, Inc., a subsidiary of
Capital One Financial Services, Inc., the Compagrged to guarantee any rent shortfalls and re-temgpoosts for a five year period of time
from the date of sale. The Company’s contingetuilitgt with respect to this guarantee as of Mar@h 2004 is $15.5 million. Because of this
guarantee, in accordance with Statement of FinbAcieounting Standards No. 66 “Accounting for Sadéfeal Estate” (“SFAS 66”), the
Company deferred the gain of approximately $6.9ioni] which will be recognized when the contingempeyiod is concluded. The Company
has not recorded any additional liability undesthuarantee and believes that its estimate refatdak agreement is accurate. However, if its
assumptions and estimates prove to be incorrectjéferred gain may not be recognized and additioeses may occur in the future.

In connection with the disposition of 298,000 sgufret of property in 2003, fully leased to Capidale Services, Inc., a subsidiary of
Capital One Financial Services, Inc., the Compaged to guarantee, over various contingency petimugh April 2006, any rent
shortfalls on certain space. Because of this gtieeaim accordance with SFAS 66, the Company dade$d.4 million of the total $8.4 millic
gain. The deferred portion of the gain will be rgeized as the guarantee contingency exposureuseed The Compang’contingent liability
with respect to this guarantee as of March 31, 20@4.4 million.

In connection with the disposition of 1.9 milliogusare feet of industrial property at the end of2G8e Company agreed to guarantee,
over various contingency periods through DecemB662any rent shortfalls on 16.3% of the rentahlease footage of the industrial
property, which is occupied by two tenants. Becafghis guarantee, in accordance with SFAS 66Cbmpany deferred $2.4 million of the
total $5.2 million gain. The deferred portion oéthain will be recognized as the guarantee comticgexposure is reduced. As of March 31,
2004, the Company has recognized $0.2 million efdéferred gain. As such, the remaining contingahbility balance with respect to this
guarantee is $2.2 million as of March 31, 2004.

Litigation
The Company is party to a variety of legal procegdiarising in the ordinary course of its busin&@b& Company believes that it is

adequately covered by insurance. Accordingly, rafreich proceedings are expected to have a masetiarse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of openat

Retirement Package

As previously announced, the Company’s Chief Exgeudfficer plans to retire June 30, 2004. In castioe with his retirement, the
Companys Board of Directors has approved a cash paymdritrtan an amount equal to (1) three times the lsasary paid to him during tt
twelve-month period preceding his retirement pRjstiiree times the target annual bonus availabléntounder the Company’s executive
incentive bonus plan. These payments will be maden no later than 30 days from the date of hisemment. Additionally, the Board of
Directors has determined that all unvested stotiop and shares of restricted stock awarded t€thef Executive Officer during his
employment will vest upon his retirement and theektoptions will remain outstanding for their sthterms. He will also continue under the
Company’s health and life insurance plan for threars at the Company’s expense. Under GAAP, thegdsato existing stock options and
restricted stock give rise to new measurement agatdsevised compensation computations. The totlto be recognized under GAAP is
approximately $6.3 million, comprised of a $2.2lioil cash payment, $2.3 million related to stockas, $1.7 million related to restricted
shares and about $0.1 million for continued insceacoverage. Certain components of this retirerpackage are required to be recognize
of the Board’s approval date, which was in the fipgarter, while other components are requirecetarnortized from that date until his June
30, 2004 retirement date. Accordingly, $4.6 milliwas expensed in the first quarter and the remgi®in7 million will be expensed in the
second quarter.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

10. SEGMENT | NFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisitienelopment and operation of rental real estaipasties. The Company operates

office, industrial and retail properties and apamitunits. There are no material inter-segmentsaations.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CDsesses and measures operating results basedroperty level net operatil
income. The operating results for the individuaeds within each property type have been aggregated the CDM evaluates operating

results and allocates resources on a property-tyyepty basis within the various property types.

All operations are within the United States anderant comprises more than 10.0% of consolidateshtges. The following table
summarizes the rental income, net operating incanueassets for each reportable segment for the thomths ended March 31, 2004 and

2003 (in thousands):

Rental Revenue (A):
Office segmen
Industrial segmer
Retail segmer
Apartment segmet

Total Rental Revenue

Net Operating Income (A):
Office segmen
Industrial segmer
Retail segmer
Apartment segmel

Total Net Operating Income

Reconciliation to income before gain/(loss) on diggition of land and depreciable assets, minority berest
and discontinued operations:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Interest expens
General and administrative expenses (includes 84@8ement compensation expense in 2(
Interest and other incon
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income before gain/(loss) on disposition of land @hdepreciable assets, minority interest and discoimued
operations

Total Assets:
Office segmen
Industrial segmer
Retail segmer
Apartment segmet
Corporate and othe

Total Assets

(A) Net of discontinued operatior

Three Months

Ended
March 31,
2004 2003

$ 90,40: $ 85,63¢
8,407 8,21¢
9,47: 9,73(
34C 344
$ 108,62: $ 103,92/
$ 56,50 $ 54,627
6,45( 6,34(
6,371 6,87¢
12¢ 141
69,457 67,98¢
(34,316 (32,030)
(26,917) (28,300)
(12,167 (5,349
3,34¢ 2,85¢
1,402 1,761
$ 81C $ 6,93(

March 31,

2004 2003

$2,786,61. $2,559,19'
270,61: 352,80¢
267,74¢ 295,14:
13,96¢ 13,75¢
169,58 182,12¢
$3,508,52: $3,403,03;
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

11. SUBSEQUENTE VENTS

On April 8, 2004, the Company approved an agreefeesell a portion of the Highwoods Preserve Offfggk, consisting of
approximately 177,000 of the total 816,000 squaet 6f space and 3.3 acres of development landrdewly, those assets were classifier
held for sale in accordance with SFAS 144. UndeASE44, the assets remain classified as held ®aaf March 31, 2004. The remaining
assets of this office park did not meet the cidtéoi be classified as held for sale and accordiagdyalso classified as held for use as of March
31, 2004. The Highwoods Preserve Office Park ha®@en occupied since WorldCom vacated the spack@scember 31, 2002. The
177,000 square feet of space currently under cairtivebe sold to a third party by October 2004 &agt book value of $21.0 million. The
development land, whose net book value is appraein®0.6 million, is contracted to be sold to Hzme third party, contingent upon the
Company securing certain development rights far lgand from the local municipality. The transacti@re subject to customary closing
conditions and no assurances can be providedhbatispositions will occur. The net proceeds todmeived as a result of the sale of the
building are approximately $18.0 million. Accordipgan impairment loss of approximately $3.3 miflizvas recorded in April 2004 when 1
property was reclassified to held for sale. The sélthe land is expected to result in a gain grapimately $0.8 million.

On May 6, 2004, the Company approved an agreeroeiitapproximately 26.0 acres of land in suburBatimore, Maryland.
Accordingly, the asset was classified as held &g & accordance with SFAS 144. Under SFAS 14tatset remains classified as held for
use as of March 31, 2004. The agreement for tha l@hose net book value is $7.0 million, providesgroceeds of $5.8 million.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of approximatelyZnillion was recorded in May 2004 when the properas reclassified to held for sale.
The transaction is subject to customary closinglit@ms and no assurances can be provided thatishesition will occur.

WorldCom Settlement

The Company submitted bankruptcy claims againstld@mm/MCI aggregating approximately $21.2 milliadated to rejected leases
and other matters. WorldCom/MCI emerged from baptayion April 20, 2004; however, the Company’s miaihave not yet been accepted.
Based on the status of the claims and the bankraptters, the Company expects to receive some anebits claims in cash and stock of
WorldCom/MCI, but such amount is not currently estiable and no recovery has been recorded as ahh\gdr, 2004.
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| TEM 2. M ANAGEMENT ' SD ISCUSSION AND A NALYSIS OF F INANCIAL C ONDITION AND R ESULTS OF O PERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith all of the financial statements appeartggwhere in the report and is based
primarily on the consolidated financial statemasftthe Company.

D 1SCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD -L OOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly ReportfForm 10-Q may contain forward-looking stateme8tsch statements include, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategidsprospects under this section and under thargdusiness.” You can identify forward-
looking statements by our use of forward-lookingri@ology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticigte,” “estimate,” “continue” or other
similar words. Although we believe that our plaingentions and expectations reflected in or suggeby such forwardboking statements a
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our plaesitions or expectations will be achieved. Whenrsa®ring such forward-looking
statements, you should keep in mind the followmgartant factors that could cause our actual resoltiffer materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement:

* speculative development activity by our compesito our existing markets could result in an essessupply of office, industrial
and retail properties relative to tenant dem:

» the financial condition of our tenants could detsate;

* we may not be able to complete development, adpri, reinvestment, disposition or joint ventprejects as quickly or on as
favorable terms as anticipate

* we may not be able to lease or release space yuickin as favorable terms as old lea

e an unexpected increase in interest rates woul@aser our debt service cos

e we may not be able to continue to meet our -term liquidity requirements on favorable terr
» we could lose key executive officers; ¢

» our southeastern and midwestern markets may sadfditional declines in economic grow

” o ” o«

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, @ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also wevie cautionary statements we make
in “Business — Risk Factors” set forth in our 200#ual Report.

Given these uncertainties, we caution you notagg@undue reliance on forward-looking statemenes.uMtlertake no obligation to
publicly release the results of any revisions &sthforward-looking statements that may be madefliect any future events or circumstances
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated event

O VERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered REi&ttprovides leasing, management, developmenttremtion and other customer-
related services for our properties and for thadtips. As of March 31, 2004, we own or have aerggt in 529 in-service office, industrial
and retail properties encompassing approximately #illion square feet. We also own 1,255 acredesfelopment land which is suitable to
develop approximately 14.2 million rentable squaet of office, industrial and retail space. We based in Raleigh, North Carolina, and our
properties and development land are located inddpGeorgia, lowa, Kansas, Maryland, Missouri, tN@arolina, South Carolina,
Tennessee and Virginia.
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Property Information

The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to our wholly owned in-service andelepment properties (excluding

apartment units) as of March 31, 2004 and 2003:

In-Service:
Office (1)
Industrial
Retail (2)

Total or Weighted Average

Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized
Office (1)
Industrial

Total or Weighted Average

In Process
Office (1)
Industrial

Total or Weighted Average

Total:
Office (1)
Industrial
Retail (2)

Total or Weighted Average

(1) Substantially all of our Office properties are ltahin suburban market

March 31, 2004

Percent

Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec
26,608,00 79.2%
8,092,001 86.5
1,411,001 94.C
36,111,000 81.4%
140,00( 36.(%
140,00( 36.(%
112,00( 100.(%
350,00( 100.C
462,00( 100.(%
26,860,00
8,442,001
1,411,00
36,713,000

(2) Excludes basement space in the Country Club Plegzepy of 418,000 square fe

March 31, 2003

Percent

Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec
25,387,00 80.%%
10,243,00 86.¢
1,527,00! 96.5
37,157,000 83.2%
100,00( 42.(%
60,00( 50.C
160,00( 45.(%
40,00¢( 0.C%
40,00( 0.C%
25,527,00
10,303,00
1,527,00!
37,357,000
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The following tables set forth scheduled leaseratioins at our wholly owned in-service propertissodMarch 31, 2004, assuming no
tenant exercises renewal options.

Office Propetrties:

Average

Percentage of Annual :ner:ﬁglri];g(;
Leased Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rentable Square Footagt Rental Revenut
Square Feet Pil(')ostqf%arre Represented b
Subject to Represented by Under Expiring Expirations
Expiring Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands
2004 (nine months(3) 2,285,40: 10.8% $ 40,91« $ 17.9( 11.(%
2005 3,163,45! 15.C 59,61 18.8¢ 16.1
2006 3,357,471 15.¢ 61,94¢ 18.4¢ 16.7
2007 2,012,41! 9.t 34,461 17.12 9.3
2008 3,420,43: 16.2 56,27¢ 16.4¢ 15.2
2009 2,132,24. 10.1 33,65¢ 15.7¢ 9.1
2010 1,429,39: 6.8 27,32¢ 19.17 7.4
2011 1,193,60! 5.7 22,56: 18.9( 6.1
2012 644,21: 3.C 11,941 18.5¢ 3.2
2013 528,07: 2.5 8,39¢ 15.9(C 2.3
Thereatftel 956,87 4.5 13,32 13.92 3.€
21,123,58 100.(% $ 370,42 $ 17.5¢ 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
Percentage of ’:\\:ﬁ]rjgf Percent of
Leased Square Rental Rate Annualized
Footage Annualized Rental Revenut
Rentable Represented by Rental Revenue¢ Per Square
Square Feet : Foot for Represented b
Subject to Expiring Leases Under Expiring Expirations
Expiring pinng ) P Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands
2004 (nine months(4) 1,397,21! 20.(% $ 6,591 $ 4.7z 20.2%
2005 1,369,01! 19.€ 6,338 4,65 19.€
2006 926,83 13.2 4,681 5.0t 14.t
2007 1,732,89: 247 7,23( 4.1% 22.t
2008 384,01: 5.t 1,91z 4.9¢ 5.9
2009 449,71 6.4 2,50¢ 5.5¢ 7.8
2010 104,57( 1.t 50C 4.7¢ 1.5
2011 138,34: 2.C 35€ 2.57 1.1
2012 44,44 0.€ 261 5.87 0.8
2013 102,38:¢ 1kt 612 5.9¢ 1.8
Thereafte 348,45( 5.C 1,302 3.74 4.C
6,997,87! 100.(% $ 32,29: $ 461 100.(%

(1) 2004 and beyond expirations that have been renaveerkflected above based on the ren’s expiration date

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is March 2004 rentalmeggbase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 207,000 square feet of leases that asernanth to month basis or 0.9% of total annualize@nue

(4) Includes 90,000 square feet of leases that arenoongh to month basis or 0.1% of total annualizacgnue
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Retail Properties:

Average
Annual Percer_]t of
Rentable Perlt_::;;:;%e d Annualized Rental Rate quglulgtzvz%w
Square Fee Square Footagt Rental Revenur Per Square
) - Foot for Represented b
Sub]gpt to Represented by Under Expiring Expirations -
Expiring Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (nine months(3) 60,80( 4.€% $ 1,120( $ 18.0¢ 3.4%
2005 113,86¢ 8.€ 2,49; 21.8¢ 7.7
2006 89,91¢ 6.8 2,10¢ 23.4¢ 6.5
2007 82,49¢ 6.2 1,941 23.5¢ 6.C
2008 139,06: 10.5 3,66( 26.32 11.4
2009 164,36( 12.4 3,90¢ 23.7¢ 12.2
2010 64,96¢ 4.¢ 1,911 29.4] 5.9
2011 53,83: 4.1 1,671 31.0¢ 5.2
2012 112,66: 8.5 2,84¢ 25.2¢ 8.8
2013 129,05: 9.7 3,26: 25.2¢ 10.1
Thereatftel 316,10° 23.7 7,307 23.12 22.¢
Total: 1,327,11 100.(% $ 32,20 $ 24.2i 100.(%
AA\;ean gle Percer)t of
Perf;r;;z%e o Annualized Rental Rate qugrlgtz\/i%w
S(?L?;:gtl):lget Square Footagt Rental Revenut Ple::)cs)ﬁfl:)?re Represented b
Subjgpt to Represented by Under Expiring Expirations -
Expiring Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (nine months(4) 3,743,41: 12.7% $ 48,61 $ 12.9¢ 11.2%
2005 4,646,33 15.¢ 68,44: 14.7: 15.7
2006 4,374,22. 14.¢ 68,73¢ 15.71 15.¢
2007 3,827,801 13.C 43,63: 11.4C 10.C
2008 3,943,501 13.4 61,852 15.6¢ 14.Z
2009 2,746,31! 9.3 40,06¢ 14.5¢ 9.2
2010 1,598,93 54 29,73¢ 18.6( 6.8
2011 1,385,78! 4.7 24,59( 17.7¢ 5.7
2012 801,31 2.7 15,05( 18.7¢ 315
2013 759,50¢ 2.€ 12,27: 16.1¢ 2.8
Thereafte 1,621,43. 5.5 21,93 13.5¢ 5.C
29,448,57 100.(% $ 434,92 $ 14.7i 100.(%

(1) 2004 and beyond expirations that have been renaveerkflected above based on the ren’s expiration date

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is March 2004 rentalmeggbase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 26,000 square feet of leases that arenoongh to month basis or 0.1% of total annualizagnue

(4) Includes 323,000 square feet of leases that aeemanth to month basis or 1.1% of total annualize@nue

Capital Recycling Program

Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitaetiin markets where we believe our extensiwal&nowledge gives us a competit
advantage over other real estate developers andtope Through our capital recycling program, veeeyally seek to:

* engage in the development of office and indusfriajects in our existing geographic markets, pritpan suburban business parl
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* acquire selective suburban office and induspraperties in our existing geographic markets mgsrbelow replacement cost that
offer attractive returns; ar

» selectively dispose of n-core properties or other properties in order totheenet proceeds for investments or other purp:
Our capital recycling activities benefit from oochl market presence and knowledge. Our divisifinars have significant real estate
experience in their respective markets. Based isrettperience, we believe that we are in a betisitipn to evaluate capital recycling

opportunities than many of our competitors. In &ddj our relationships with our tenants and thesents at properties for which we conc
third-party fee-based services may lead to devedopiprojects when these tenants seek new space.

The following summarizes our capital recycling mang:

Year Ended

Three Months Endec December 31, 20C

March 31, 2004

Office, Industrial and Retail Properties
(rentable square feet in thousan

Dispositions (162) (3,299

Contributions to Joint Venture — (297)

Developments Placed-Service — 191

Redevelopment — (221)
Acquisitions (including 1,319 from a joint venture2003 and

1,357 from two joint ventures in 200 1,35¢ 1,42¢

Net Change of Ir-Service Properties 1,19¢ (2,190

Customer Information

The following table sets forth information concengithe 20 largest customers of our whallyned properties as of March 31, 2004 (
thousands):

. Average
SqE:rnetal-lee Ren?anlnsg\llltzaﬁﬂe a Percent Qf Total RemaininggLeasn
Annualized
Customer Rental Revenue(1 Term in Years
($ in thousands)

Federal Governmel 739,52: $ 14,99: 3.5&% 6.1
AT&T 573,89( 10,92: 2.61 3.6
PricewaterhouseCoope 297,79! 6,96¢ 1.6¢€ 6.1
State of Georgi 359,56! 6,85¢ 1.64 4.7
Sara Lee 1,195,38. 4,63€ 1.11 34
IBM 215,46( 4,56¢ 1.0¢ 2.C
WorldCom and Affiliates(2) 183,01« 3,74¢ 0.8¢ 2.4
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.87 3.8
Volvo 267,71 3,45( 0.82 5.3
Lockton Companie 132,71¢ 3,30: 0.7¢ 10.€
US Airways 295,04¢ 3,24: 0.77 3.7
ITC Deltacom(3) 158,39: 3,22¢ 0.77 1.2
BB&T 239,24t 3,187 0.7¢€ 7.C
T-Mobile USA 120,56: 3,01¢ 0.7z 2.3
Bank of Americe 146,84 2,73¢ 0.6t 5.2
Ford Motor Compan 125,98¢ 2,68¢ 0.64 5.9
Ikon 181,36: 2,53¢ 0.61 3.6
CHS Professional Servic 149,02: 2,51¢ 0.6C 2.6
Hartford Insuranci 115,54¢ 2,50¢€ 0.6C 2.6
Carlton Fields 95,77: 2,412 0.5¢ 0.3
Total 5,838,84. $ 91,15: 21.7¢% 4.5

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is March 2004 rentalmeggbase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12

(2) This quarter reflects the addition of customerthinOrlando properties previously part of the -HIW, LLC joint venture.

(3) ITC Deltacom (formerly Business Telecom) isdted in a property that, as of March 31, 2004 niden contract for sale. Although no
assurances can be made, the sale is expectednicla004
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Results of Operations

During the three months ended March 31, 2004, aqpiately 83.2% of our rental revenue was derivedfiour office properties. As a
result, while we own and operate a limited numidendustrial and retail properties, our operatiegults depend heavily on successfully
leasing our office properties. Furthermore, sinaeshof our office properties are located in Floyi@&orgia and North Carolina, employment
growth in those states is and will continue to bénaportant determinative factor in predicting duture operating results.

The key components affecting our revenue streamaamge occupancy and rental rates. During thiespasral years, as the average
occupancy of our portfolio has decreased, our ganmgerty rental revenue has declined. Average aoutypgenerally increases during times
of improving economic growth, as our ability todeaspace outpaces vacancies that occur upon tiratexps of existing leases, while
average occupancy generally declines during tinheower economic growth, when new vacancies temaltpace our ability to lease space.
Asset acquisitions and dispositions also impactrental revenues and could impact our average ey depending upon the occupancy
percentage of the properties that are acquiredldr s

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagapgancy proportionally depends upon whether remtieunew leases are higher or
lower than the rents under the previous leasesnBthne three months ended March 31, 2004, theageerate per square foot on a GAAP
basis on new leases was only 0.9% lower than theage rate per square foot on the expired leasstifer indicator of the predictability of
future revenues is the expected lease expiratiboargortfolio. Our average suburban office letesen, excluding renewal periods is 4.5
years. During the remainder of 2004, leases oncxprpately 3.7 million square feet of space will egghat have not been renewed a
March 31, 2004. This square footage representoappately 12.7% of our annualized revenue. As ofilA30, 2004, we have renewed or
signed new leases aggregating 4.5 million squastedespace with start dates in 2004. In order &ntain occupancy at its current level, we
estimate that we must lease an additional 2.9anilliquare feet with lease start dates in 2004. résult, in addition to seeking to increase
average occupancy by leasing current vacant spacalso must concentrate our leasing efforts oawaérg leases on expiring space. For
more information regarding our lease expiratioeg, ‘$roperties—Lease Expirations.”

Our expenses primarily consist of depreciation amartization, general and administrative expensegal property expenses and
interest expense. Depreciation and amortizati@nrien-cash expense associated with the ownershgabproperty and generally remains
relatively consistent each year, unless we buyebrassets, since we depreciate our propertiesstramht-line basis. General and
administrative expenses, net of amounts capitazetlexcluding retirement compensation, consistgrily of management and employee
salaries and other personnel costs, corporate eadraind long term incentive compensation, and renged from 5.7% to 6.2% of our total
expenses over the past few years. Rental propgpgnses are expenses associated with our ownenstiipperating of rental properties and
include variable expenses, such as common aredenairce and utilities, and fixed expenses, sugh@serty taxes and insurance. Some of
these variable expenses may be lower as our avecaggancy declines, while the fixed expenses nemaistant regardless of average
occupancy. Interest expense depends upon the ambout borrowings, the weighted average interatts on our debt and the amount
capitalized on development projects.

Under GAAP, certain expenses related to the dewsdop, construction and leasing of properties, siscbonstruction costs, interest
costs, real estate taxes, salaries and other r@atsg to such activities, are capitalized ratthen expensed as incurred. As a result, during
times of increased development, construction acdessful leasing activity, certain of our generad administrative expenses may actually
be lower because some fixed overhead costs arenyam@mpitalized, and then amortized over the liwkgarious projects rather than expen
during the period incurred.

We also record income from our investments in usobdated affiliates, which are our joint venturébese joint ventures are not
consolidated on our balance sheet. We record initedn earnings of unconsolidated affiliates” qroportionate share of the joint venture’s
net income or loss as part of “other income.” Dgrihe first quarter of 2004, income earned fromjoimt ventures, net of minority interest,
accounted for approximately 21.4% of our totalinebme.
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Additionally, SFAS 144 requires us to record nebime received from properties sold or held for sefgarately as “income from
discontinued operationsAs a result, we separately record revenues andheggdrom these properties. During the three maerided Marcl
31, 2004, income, including gains and losses filoensile of properties, from discontinued operatiaes of minority interest, accounted for
approximately 64.3% of our total net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our proee to successfully compete
against other properties. Tenant improvementsheredsts required to customize the space for theifspneeds of the customer. Lease
commissions are costs incurred to find space frctistomer. Building improvements are recurringteaposts not related to a customer to
maintain the buildings. As leases expire, we eitiempt to relet the space to an existing custamnattract a new customer to occupy the
space. Generally, customer renewals require logasihg capital than reletting to a new customewéi@r, market conditions such as supply
of available space on the market, as well as derfargpace, drive not only customer rental ratesatso tenant improvement costs. Leasing
capital expenditures are amortized over the terth@fease and building improvements are deprat@ter the appropriate useful life of the
assets acquired. Both are included in depreciaimhamortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under trexdktax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of R&ET taxable income to our
stockholders. We generally use rents received frostomers to fund our operating expenses, recucapgal expenditures, debt securities,
guarantee obligations and stockholder dividendsufid property acquisitions, development activityoailding renovations, we incur debt
from time to time. As of March 31, 2004, we had mpgmately $1.0 billion of secured debt outstandamgl $0.8 billion of unsecured debt
outstanding. Our debt consists of mortgage delsieeured debt securities and borrowings under aotvig loan. As of April 18, 2004, we
have $117.9 million of additional borrowing availél under our revolving loan. As of the date bfd filing, our short-term cash needs
include the funding of $29.2 million in developmeativity and $54.8 million in principal paymentsedon our long term debt in the next
year.

Our revolving loan and the indenture governing autstanding long-term unsecured debt securitiel Bagquire us to satisfy various
operating and financial covenants and performaates:. As a result, to ensure that we do not wothé provisions of these debt instruments,
we may from time to time be limited in undertakiceytain activities that may otherwise be in thet rgsrest of our stockholders, such as
repurchasing capital stock, acquiring additionak#s increasing the total amount of our debtnoreasing stockholder dividends. We review
our current and expected operating results, firdmandition and planned strategic actions on agomy basis for the purpose of monitoring
our continued compliance with these covenants atids: While we are currently in compliance witlesk covenants and ratios and expect to
remain so for the foreseeable future, we cannatigecany assurance of such continued complianceapdailure to remain in compliance
could result in an acceleration of some or allaf debt, severely restrict our ability to incur @aehal debt to fund short- and long-term cash
needs, or result in higher interest expense.

To generate additional capital to fund our growtHd ather strategic initiatives and to lessen thaership risks typically associated w
owning 100.0% of a property, we may sell some afpyoperties or contribute them to joint ventul&en we create a joint venture with a
strategic partner, we usually contribute one orerproperties that we own and/or vacant land toveynformed entity in which we retain an
interest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for our Equeninority interest in the joint venture, we geally receive cash from the partner and
retain all of the management income relating topttoperties in the joint venture. The joint ventitself will frequently borrow money on its
own behalf to finance the acquisition of and/orl&ge the return upon the properties being acqbiyatie joint venture or to build or acquire
additional buildings, typically on a naecourse or limited recourse basis. We generadiynat liable for the debts of our joint ventures;ept
to the extent of our equity investment, unless aeehdirectly guaranteed any of that debt. In mases, we and/or our strategic partners are
required to guarantee customary exceptions to aoaurse liability in non-recourse loans.

We have historically also sold additional Commoac&tor Preferred Stock, or issued Common Unit§mal additional growth or to
reduce our debt, but have limited those effortsrduthe past five years because of our abilitydnegally incur debt at a lower cost. We
currently have an effective shelf registrationesta¢nt with the SEC pursuant to which the Compamnydesell up to $900.0 million of
Common Stock and the Operating
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Partnership could sell up to $600.0 million of unged debt securities.

Management’s Analysis

In measuring, analyzing and comparing our opergigrformance, we use a number of different criténeluding GAAP financial
measures, such as net income, and non-GAAP finameiasures, such as funds from operations (“FFEFD does not represent net income
or cash flows from operating, investing or finargcarctivities as defined by GAAP and should not tiesidered as an alternative to net
income as an indicator of our operating performad® cash flows as a measure of liquidity. Seentds From Operations and Cash
Available for Distributions.” However, we believieat FFO is one of several indicators of the perforoe of an equity REIT. FFO can
facilitate comparisons of operating performanceveen periods and between other REITs becauselitdssfactors, such as depreciation,
amortization and gains and losses from sales bestate assets, which are based on historicabrmsimay be of limited relevance in
evaluating current performance. FFO as discloseatlgr REITs may not be comparable to our calauadf FFO.

In measuring, analyzing and comparing our finanogddition, management uses a number of otheriaiiteuch as total debt as a
percentage of total market capitalization, the \Wwid average interest rate of our secured and urestdebt, our borrowing capacity and ¢
available for distributions (“CAD”). CAD provideswvith an additional basis to evaluate our abtlityncur and service debt, fund
acquisitions, leasing and other capital expenditared pay dividends to stockholders. CAD, which monGAAP financial measure, does t
represent net income or cash flows from operatmggsting or financing activities as defined by GRASee “Funds From Operations and
Cash Available for Distribution.”
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R ESULTS oF O PERATIONS

As described in Note 7 to the Consolidated Findr&tatements, we reclassified the operations argim/(loss) from disposal of cert:
properties to discontinued operations if the propsmwere either sold during 2003 and 2004 or vetd for sale at March 31, 2004 and met
certain conditions as stipulated by SFAS 144. Adowly, properties sold during 2003 and 2004 thdtndbt meet certain conditions as
stipulated by SFAS 144 were not reclassified teatisinued operations.

The following table sets forth information regagliour results of operations for the three montldedrMarch 31, 2004 and 2003 ($ in
millions):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
% of
2004 2003  $ Change Change
Rental revenue $108.€ $103.¢$ 4.7 4.5%
Operating expenses:
Rental propert 39.2 36.C 3.2 8.¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 34.2 32.C 2.3 7.2
General and administratiy 12.2 5.3 6.9 130.2
Total operating expens 85.7 73.2 12.4 16.¢
Interest expense:
Contractua 26.C 27.7 .7 (6.2)
Amortization of deferred financing cos 0.¢ 0.€ 0.3 50.C
26.¢ 28.2 (2.4 4.9
Other income:
Interest and other incon 3.4 2.8 0.€ 21.4
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 1.4 1.8 (0.9 (22.2)
4.8 4.€ 0.2 4.2
Income before gain/(loss) on disposition of land @hdepreciable assets, minority
interest and discontinued operations 0.8 6.8 (6.2 (88.9)
Gain on disposition of lan 1.1 0.¢ 0.2 22.2
(Loss)/gain on disposition of depreciable as — — — —
1.1 0.8 0.2 22.2
Income before minority interest and discontinued oprations 1.6 7.8 (5.9 (75.€)
Minority interest (0.2 (0.9 0.7 77.¢
Income from continuing operations 1.7 6.9 (5.2) (75.9)
Discontinued operation
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 0.7 4.5 (3.9 (84.9
Gain/(loss) on sale of discontinued operationspoheatinority interes 3.t (0.2 3.7 1,850.(
4.2 4.3 (0.7 (2.9
Net income 5.8 11.2 (5.3 (47.9)
Dividends on preferred stox (7.7 (7.7 — —
Net income available for common stockholder $ (1.9 $ 35% (5.3 (151.H9%

Rental Revenue

The increase in rental revenue from continuing agens was primarily a result of the acquisitiorceftain MG-HIW, LLC assets in
July 2003 and early March 2004 which have increasathl revenues by $7.0 million. Partly offsettthés increase was a decrease in average
occupancy rates from 81.6% for the three monthe@mdiarch 31, 2003 to 81.3% for the three monthedmdarch 31, 2004. The decrease in
average occupancy rates was primarily a resutadd expirations and early lease terminationsddiitian, due to the decrease in some
property average occupancy, recovery income framaiceoperating expenses has decreased in thertoeths ended March 31, 2004 from
the three months ended March 31, 2003.



Same property rental revenue generated from ttgerBlion square feet of our 439 wholly-ownedsdarvice properties that were owr
throughout the period from January 1, 2003 to M&th2004, decreased $1.0 million, or 3.6%, forttlree months ended March 31, 2004
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2008.decrease is primarily a result of lower samapprty average occupancy, which
decreased from 82.5% in the first quarter of 2@081t.7% in the first quarter of 2004. In additidage to the decrease in some property

average occupancy, recovery income from certaimatipg expenses has decreased in the three mamdes &arch 31, 2004 from the three
months ended March 31, 2003.
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During the three months ended March 31, 2004, 26ored generation leases representing 1.9 millioarggfeet of office, industrial a
retail space were executed. The average rate paresépot on a GAAP basis over the lease termhiesd leases was only 0.9% lower thar
rent paid by previous customers.

As of the date of this filing, we are beginningste a modest improvement in employment trenddemwaf our markets and an
improving economic climate in the Southeast. Howewe expect a lag between positive employment gr@amd positive absorption of offi
space due to the significant amount of vacanciedertutilized space and space available for subleasur markets.

We anticipate that occupancy in our in-servicefptid will remain consistent or decrease slightiythe second quarter of 2004 and
increase slightly in the third and fourth quarteff2004. This outlook is based on the level of ilegsctivity we have experienced over the
past 12 months, which we expect to continue thrahglremainder of 2004, our expected renewal mtdother factors. During the last nine
months of 2004, leases on approximately 3.7 miliqnare feet of space will expire that have nohlveeewed as of March 31, 2004. This
square footage represents approximately 12.7% ofmoualized revenue. As of April 30, 2004, we heareewed or signed new leases
aggregating 4.5 million square feet of space wiintglates in 2004. In order to maintain occupaatdys current level, we estimate that we
must lease an additional 2.9 million square fe¢h fgase start dates in 2004. Because of an ovassapoffice space in many of our
southeastern markets, we continue to expect striighrents under new leases to be lower tharstitaght-line rents under the expiring
leases. As noted above, during the three monthsdelidirch 31, 2004, the average rate per squar@foatGAAP basis on new leases was
only 0.9% lower than the average rate per squaredio the expired leases.

Operating Expenses

The increase in rental operating expenses frommgng operations (real estate taxes, utilitiesumance, repairs and maintenance and
other property-related expenses) was a result ai@ease in certain fixed operating expensesdbatot vary with net changes in our
occupancy percentages, such as real estate tagesrice and utility rate changes, and $2.5 mifiiom an increase in operating expenses
which resulted from the acquisition of certain M@®AHassets in July 2003 and early March 2004.

Rental operating expenses as a percentage of remtalue increased from 34.6% for the three mostlded March 31, 2003 to 36.1%
for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

Same property rental operating expenses, whictharexpenses related to the 439 wholly-owned imiseiproperties that were owned
throughout the period from January 1, 2003 to M&th2004, increased $1.3 million, or 3.6%, for e months ended March 31, 2004,
compared to the three months ended March 31, 20@8increase was a result of inflationary increase®rtain costs, including real estate
taxes and utilities, and because many propertyatipgrcosts are fixed and do not vary as occupahanges.

Same property rental operating expenses as a pageeof related revenue increased from 33.6% fthhee months ended March 31,
2003 to 35.1% for the three months ended Marcl28@4. The increase in this percentage largely sedusecause many operating costs are
fixed and do not decline with average occupancylsmwhuse a number of fixed costs have experierigaéincreases, these include
property taxes and utilities.

We expect property operating expenses to incrdagglg in the remainder of 2004 due to inflatiopancreases along with increases in
certain fixed operating expenses that do not vatly accupancy.

The increase in depreciation and amortization foomtinuing operations is primarily related to thgaisition of certain MGHIW asset
in July 2003 and March 2004, and an increase ildimgj, leasing commissions and tenant improvemgpg¢editures and the write-off of
deferred leasing costs and tenant improvementsufstomers who vacated their space prior to leagiation.

General and administrative expenses from continapggations, net of amounts capitalized, were $6lon higher in the three mont|
ended March 31, 2004 compared to the same perigdQs. Of the total increase, $4.6 million relatethe cost of a retirement package for
our Chief Executive Officer, as described in Not® $he Unaudited Interim Consolidated Financiat&nents. The remaining $2.3 million
increase was caused by (1) increased costs ofrpmbkand consultants in connection with implementarbane®xley, (2) higher long terr
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incentive compensation costs, (3) a credit to G&penses in 2003 from settlement of a litigationteratand (4) higher salary, fringe benefit
and employee relocation costs.

In the remainder of 2004, general and administeatixpenses are expected to increase due to imiayioncreases in compensation,
benefits and other expenses related to the impl&tien of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In addition,hie second quarter of 2004, general and
administrative expenses will include $1.7 millievhich represents the second quarter recognitidgheofetirement package to be paid to our
CEO. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Bam¢s for further discussion.

I nterest Expense

Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized, dsereby $1.4 million for the three months endeddd&1, 2004 compared to the same
period of 2003. The decrease was primarily dueweel average interest rates on outstanding debtiyrthge to a debt refinancing completed
in December 2003. This decrease was partially bifg€1) higher average debt balances in 2004 coedp@ 2003 (due mostly to the
consolidation, beginning early March 2004 of dedsttemed when we acquired the remaining interestamMiller Global joint venture and the
related borrowing of $62.5 million under our linfooedit to purchase the 80.0% joint venture irgeras described in Note 3 to the Unaudited
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements) andy23lightly lower capitalized interest in 2004 caangd to 2003 due to lower average
construction and development costs. Interest expfarghe three months ended March 31, 2004 an8 R@buded $0.9 million and $0.6
million, respectively, of amortization of deferrdancing costs. The increase was primarily a teduinancing costs incurred in connection
with the refinancing of the Mandatory Par Put Rewmsed Securities (‘“MOPPRS”).

Interest expense is expected to decline in theiretaaof 2004 primarily due to the December 20GBhaacing of certain long term
debt, offset by any increases in average debt bataresulting from acquisitions or other activities

I nterest and Other Income

The increase in interest and other income is pilynaglated to the interest received during thee¢éhmonths ended March 31, 2004
related to a note receivable acquired in conneatitim the disposition of certain properties in 2088d higher interest rates earned on cash
reserves. Third party leasing and developmentrfeeme decreased slightly in the three months ehtiedh 31, 2004 due to lower demand
for real estate slightly offset by an increase anagement fee income due to the Company retaihenghanagement of some of our prope
that were sold to third parties or contributeddiof ventures during 2003 and the first quarte2@d4.

The decrease in equity in earnings from continaipgrations of unconsolidated affiliates was pritgaairesult of the acquisition of
certain assets of the MG-HIW, LLC joint ventureJuly 2003 and early March 2004 and lower occupamclye first quarter of 2004 for
certain joint ventures.

We expect equity in earnings from continuing ogers of unconsolidated affiliates to decrease eéréfmainder of 2004, primarily as a
result of the acquisition of the assets of the MBVHLLC joint venture in July 2003 and March 2004.
Gain on Disposition of Land and Depreciable Assets.

In the first quarter of 2004, the majority of theigwas comprised of a $1.1 million gain relateth® disposition of 40.5 acres of land.
In the first quarter of 2003, the majority of the@igwas comprised of a $0.06 million gain relatthie disposition of 6.7 acres of land.
Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, we classified netime®f $0.7 million and $4.5 million, net of mingriinterest, as discontinued
operations for the three months ended March 314 20@ 2003, respectively. These amounts pertam8dtmillion square feet of property
apartment units and 122.8 acres of revemaeiucing land sold during 2003 and 2004 and OlBamisquare feet of property and 88 apartn
units held for sale at March 31, 2004. We alsosif@sl as discontinued operations a gain on the glalhese properties of $3.5 million
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and a $0.2 million loss, net of minority interastthe three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2@8Bectively. Included in the loss in the
three months ended March 31, 2003 was $0.3 mitfampairment charges.

Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $7.7 million in preferred stock dividerin each of the three months ended March 31, 2664003.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the first quarter of 20085.9 million, which was a 47.3% decrease frahincome of $11.2 million in the
first quarter of 2003. The decrease was primatilg t the recorded cost of the retirement packageur Chief Executive Officer, an
increase in rental property operating expensesaaridcrease in depreciation and amortization. énrémainder of 2004, we expect net
income to be lower as compared with 2003 due tddlalightly rising average occupancy, pressureemtal rates, the remaining expense to
be recorded in the second quarter associated méthetirement package of our Chief Executive Offie@ impairment loss to be recorded in
the second quarter related to a building at théwwapds Preserve Office Park and 26.0 acres ofitasdburban Baltimore, Maryland, higher
depreciation and amortization, higher property apeg costs, and higher general and administraibsts, offset by lower interest expense.
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L 1QuiDiITY AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dbsirs based on operating activities, investingwvitéés and financing activities.
The following table sets forth the changes in tlen@any’s cash flows from the first three month@®3 to the first three months of 2004 ($
in thousands):

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2004 2003 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activiti $ 38,19« $ 38,80¢ $ (612
Cash Used In Investing Activitie (78,84) (20,18¢) (58,657)
Cash Provided By/(Used In) Financing Activit 39,08¢ (20,43) 49,51¢
Total Cash Flow: $ (1,567 $ 8,18 $ (9,750

In calculating cash flow from operating activiti€sAAP requires us to add depreciation and amoitimatvhich are non-cash expenses,
back to net income. As a result, we have histdsicggnerated a significant positive amount of cas operating activities. From period to
period, cash flow from operations depends primarggn changes in our net income, as discussed fubreinder “Results of Operations,”
changes in receivables and payables, and net@uklidir decreases in our overall portfolio, whideetfthe amount of depreciation and
amortization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesegally relates to capitalized costs incurred &arsing and major building
improvements, and our acquisition, disposition gt venture activity. During periods of significanet acquisition activity, our cash uses
such investing activities will generally exceedtcasovided by investing activities, which typicallsould consist of cash received upon the
sale of properties or distributions from our joientures.

Cash used in financing activities generally relatestockholder dividends, incurrence and repayroédebt and sales or repurchases of
common stock and preferred stock. As discussedqursly, we use a significant amount of our casfuta stockholder dividends. Whethel
not we incur significant new debt during a peri@pends generally upon the net effect of our adipisidisposition, development and joint
venture activity. We use our revolving loan for kiog capital purposes, which means that duringgiwgn period, in order to minimize
interest expense associated with balances outstandider the revolving loan, we will likely recosinificant repayments and borrowings
under the revolving loan.

The decrease of $0.6 million in cash provided bgraping activities was primarily a result of lowest income due to a decrease in
average occupancy rates for our wholly-owned pbotfan increase in general and administrative agpe and out capital recycling program.
In addition, the level of net cash provided by @peg activities is affected by the timing of rquedf revenues and payment of expenses.

The increase of $58.7 million in cash used in itimgsactivities was primarily a result of an incsean additions to real estate assets of
approximately $67.2 million, which was mostly doethe acquisition of the remaining MW, LLC assets, and a $10.0 million contribut
to the Highwoods KC Glenridge Office, LP joint verg. These increases were partially offset by arease in proceeds from dispositions of
real estate assets of approximately $19.4 million.

Cash provided by financing activities was $39.lionil for the three months ended March 31, 2004@asth used in financing activities
was $10.4 million for the three months ended M&th2003. The increase of $49.5 million was prifgairesult of an increase in $38.5 in
net borrowings on the unsecured revolving loan,tgages and notes payable and a decrease of $8dhmmildistributions paid on common
stock and units.

As disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Géavs, there were significant non-cash investing famancing activities in both
quarters; the activities in 2004 primarily relatec¢he consolidation of the MG-HIW Orlando jointntare.

In 2004, we expect to continue our capital recygfimogram of selectively disposing of non-core gnbies or other properties in order
to use the net proceeds for investments or othgroses. At March 31, 2004, we had
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279,398 square feet of office properties, 88 apantrunits and 81.5 acres of land classified as fogldale pursuant to SFAS 144 with a
carrying value of $38.5 million. The sale of thessets are subject to customary closing conditionkjding due diligence and
documentation, and are expected to close duringetim@inder of 2004. However, we can provide norasse that these assets will be sold.

During the remainder of 2004, we expect to havetipescash flows from operating activities. The nash flows from investing
activities in the remainder of 2004 could be pwgsitr negative, depending on the level and timingroperty dispositions, property
acquisitions and capitalized leasing and improvedrests. Any positive cash flows from investingieties in the remainder of 2004 are
expected to be used to pay stockholder and unighalidtributions, required debt amortization, aaclurring capital expenditures.

Capitalization
The following table sets forth our capitalizationaf March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 (in thods, except per share amounts):

March 31, December 31
2004 2003

Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $1,767,23! $1,558,75!
Preferred stock, at redemption va $ 377,44 $ 377,44
Common shares and units outstanc 59,771 59,671
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 26.21 $ 25.4(
Market value of common equi 1,566,75! 1,515,79!
Total market capitalization with de $3,711,43! $3,451,99

Based on our total market capitalization of appreately $3.7 billion at March 31, 2004 (at the MaBdh 2004 per share stock price of
$26.21 and assuming the redemption for shares wfin@mn Stock of the 6.1 million Common Units of miitpinterest in the Operating
Partnership), our debt represented approximatel§d of our total market capitalization, which isiaorease of 2.4% over 2003, which was
45.2%. The increase is a result of the increasesiiniebt from December 31, 2003 to March 31, 2@@imarily as a result of the assumption
of debt related to the acquisition of the 80.0%ityguaterest in the remaining MG-HIW, LLC assetsMarch 2, 2004. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn of the acquisition.

Our total indebtedness at the three months endednVEd, 2004 was approximately $1.8 billion and wasprised of $1.0 billion of
secured indebtedness with a weighted average sttexie of 6.3% and $0.8 billion of unsecured inddbess with a weighted average inte
rate of 5.8%. As of March 31, 2004, our outstandimytgage and loans payable and the secured raegdivan were secured by real estate
assets with an aggregate carrying value of appravgin $1.6 billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exigiacured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forra emmplete discussion of our long-
term liquidity needs, see “Liquidity and Capitald®@erces—Current and Future Cash Needs.”
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The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations at March 31, 2(64housands):

Payments Due By Period

Through
Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt: (1)
Unsecured
Put Option Note: $ 100,000 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $100,00(
Notes 460,00( — — 110,00( — 100,00( 250,00(
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payah(2) 751,89: 9,71¢ 81,44" 19,36: 79,38¢ 13,96¢ 548,01¢
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,311,89. 9,71¢ 81,44" 129,36: 79,38¢ 113,96! 898,01
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured:
Term Loan 120,00( — 120,00( — — — —
Revolving Loar 130,50( — — 130,50( — — —
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab(2) 204,84! 164 27¢ 201,17¢ 3,221 — —
Total Variable Rate Det 455,34! 164 120,27¢ 331,67 3,221 — —
Total Long Term Dehb 1,767,23! 9,88( 201,72t 461,03 82,61: 113,96! 898,01
Operating Lease Obligations:
Land Lease 48,07t 94t 1,27: 1,21: 1,19¢ 1,19¢ 42,25¢
Purchase Obligations:
Completion Contract(3) 17,10( 17,10( — — — — —
Other Long Term Liabilities Reflected on
the Balance Sheet
Plaza Colonade Debt Repayment
Guarante«(4) 2,46¢ — — 2,46¢ — — —
Plaza Colonnade Completion Guarantee
(C))] 37€ — — 37€ — — —
SF-HIW Harborview Lease Guarant 91 — — — 91 — —
Capital One Lease Guarani(5) 6,917 — — 6,917 — — —
Capital One Lease Guarani(5) 4,421 1,56¢€ 1,42¢ 1,421 — — —
Industrial Portfolio Lease Guarant(5) 2,24 1,18: 517 517 26 — —
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP Lease
Guarantet 6,42¢ 461 61t 61t 61t 61t 3,50¢
CEC's Retirement Packa((3) 2,31 2,26( 21 21 11 — —
Total $1,857,66: $33,39¢ $205,58( $474,59: $84,54¢ $115,77: $943,77¢

(1) The Operating Partnership’s unsecured not&60.0 million bear interest at rates ranging fid@P6 to 8.125% with interest payable
semi-annually in arrears. Any premium and discaat#ted to the issuance of the unsecured noteshiemeith other issuance costs is
being amortized over the life of the respectiveesas an adjustment to interest expense. All ofitisecured notes, except for the Put
Option Notes, are redeemable at any time priordtunity at our option, subject to certain condiancluding the payment of make-
whole amounts. Our fixed rate mortgage loans gdlgeaee either locked out to prepayment for albgportion of their term, or are pre-
payable subject to certain conditions includingopsenent penaltie:

(2) The mortgage loans payable were secured byestale assets with an aggregate carrying valapmbximately $1.6 billion at March
31, 2004

(3) See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfenfsrther discussior

(4) See"Liquidity and Capital Resourc+ Off Balance Sheet Arrangemer’

(5) These liabilities represent gains that weredefl in accordance with SFAS 66 when sold thespepties to a third party. We defer
gains on sales of real estate up to our maximurosxge to contingent loss. For further discussien,Mote 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statement
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On March 29, 2004, we amended our existing revghidan and two bank term loans. The changes madifetain definitions used in
all three loans to determine amounts that are ttsedmpute financial covenants and also adjustedobthe financial ratio covenants. The
amendment did not change any economic terms dbthre although we paid fees to the lenders whictewapitalized and will be amortized
over the remaining term of the loan. The amendé®%Pmillion revolving loan (the “Revolving Loani§ from a group of nine lender banks
and matures in July 2006. The Revolving Loan caraie interest rate based upon our senior unsectedd ratings. As a result, interest
currently accrues on borrowings under the Revolviogn at a rate of LIBOR plus 105 basis points. fdmns of the Revolving Loan require
us to pay an annual facility fee equal to .25%hefaggregate amount of the Revolving Loan. We aotlgr&ave a credit rating of BBB-
assigned by Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Inc. In 4gt@003, Moody’s Investor Service downgraded oedit rating from Baa3 to Bal. We
cannot provide any assurances Moody'’s or the afteglit rating agencies will not further change oradit ratings. If Standard & Poor’s or
Fitch Inc. were to lower our credit ratings with@utorresponding increase by Moody’s, the intenagst on borrowings under our revolving
loan would automatically increase 60 basis points.

Operating and Financial Covenants and Performance Btios

The terms of the revolving loan and the indenttines govern our outstanding notes require us toptpmith certain operating and
financial covenants and performance ratios. Wecargently in compliance with all such requiremerihough we expect to remain in
compliance with the covenants and ratios undere@wolving loans for at least the next several aqgrartdepending upon our future operating
performance and property and financing transactimescannot assure you that we will continue tanb@mpliance.

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about our ratio and covenant compliance uttgerevolving loan assuming the
new Revolving Loan had been in effect at MarchZlD4. Certain of these definitions may differ freaimilar terms used in the consolidated
financial statements and may, for example, consideproportionate share of investments in uncodatdd affiliates. For a more detailed
discussion of the covenants in our revolving laaoluding definitions of certain relevant termse ke credit agreement governing our
revolving loan which is attached as Exhibit 10.14.

March 31,
2004
Total Liabilities Less Than or Equal to 57.5% oftdlcAssets 52.6%
Unencumbered Assets Greater Than or Equal to Ztismsecured Del 3.6
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 35% of Totakts 28.1%
Adjusted EBDITA Greater Than 2.10 times Interesp&nse 2.1¢
Adjusted EBDITA Greater Than 1.50 times Fixed Clea 1.5¢
Adjusted NOI Unencumbered assets Greater Thant@n2s Interest on Unsecured D 2.62
Tangible Net Worth Greater Than $1.577 Billi $1.6 billion
Restricted Payments, including distributions torshalders, Less Than or Equal to 95% of C 84.2%

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about the Operating Partnership’s ratio angenant compliance under the
Operating Partnership’s indenture as of March 8042 Certain of these definitions may differ frommiar terms used in the consolidated
financial statements and may, for example, consideproportionate share of investments in uncodatdd affiliates. For a more detailed
discussion of the covenants in our indenture, oicly definitions of certain relevant terms, seeitftenture governing our unsecured notes
which is incorporated by reference in our Quart&égport on Form 10-Q as Exhibit 10.14.

March 31,
2004
Overall Debt Less Than or Equal to 60% of Adjustethal Asset: 43.6%
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 40% of Adjustad| Assets 23.1%
Income Available for debt service Greater Than 1iB@s Annual Service Chari 2.7
Total Unencumbered Assets Greater Than 200% ofdumed Deb 307.5%

Anticipated Refinancings in 2004

In 1997, a trust formed by the Operating Partnershid $100.0 million of Exercisable Put Option @#tes due June 15, 2004 (“X-
POS"). The assets of the trust consist of, amohgrahings, $100.0 million of Exercisable Put OptMotes due June 15, 2011 (the “Put
Option Notes”), issued by the Operating Partnershiiig Put Option
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Notes bear an interest rate of 7.19% from the diigsuance through June 15, 2004. After June @84 2the interest rate to maturity on
Put Option Notes will be 6.39% plus the applicapecad determined as of June 15, 2004. In conmesiih the initial issuance of the Put
Option Notes, a counter party was granted an optiggurchase the Put Option Notes from the trusiwore 15, 2004 at 100.0% of the
principal amount. If the counter party elects moéxercise this option, the Operating Partnerstopld/be required to repurchase the Put
Option Notes from the Trust on June 15, 2004 at@a0of the principal amount plus accrued and unpdétest.

We currently anticipate that no later than June20B®4 we will call or repurchase $100.0 milliontlbé X-POS and the third party
purchase option. We will exchange the X-POS farrdlar amount of new bonds. We anticipate that ¢hieansactions will be accounted for
as an exchange of indebtedness under EITF 96-18@mmtdingly no gain or loss would be recorded. ifdidally, we anticipate the
transaction will have no material effect on futureerest expense assuming current market rates@miitions remain constant. However, any
such transaction will depend upon our ability tedi@bly access the credit market and, accordinglyassurances can be provided that we
be successful in refinancing the Put Option Notéamarable terms, if at all.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Historically, rental revenue has been the princgmalrce of funds to meet our short-term liquidéguirements, which primarily consist
of operating expenses, debt service, stockholdédetids, any guarantee obligations and recurripgtadeexpenditures. In addition, we could
incur tenant improvements and lease commissioageetto any releasing of space at the HighwoodsePre campus vacated by WorldCom.

In addition to the requirements discussed abowvesloort-term (within the next 12 months) liquidigguirements also include the
funding of approximately $29.2 million of our exigy development activity (as of the date of thimg) and first generation tenant
improvements and lease commissions on propertee@lin-service that are not fully leased. We eixfefund our short-term liquidity
requirements through a combination of working alpitash flows from operations and the following:

» borrowings under our unsecured revolving loan @$117.9 million of availability as of April 18, 2@);
» the selective disposition of n-core assets or other assets, including land heldeeelopment or sal

» the sale or contribution of some of our whollyyed properties, development projects and developlaed to strategic joint
ventures to be formed with unrelated investorsciiwill have the net effect of generating additiorepital through such sale or
contributions; ant

» the issuance of secured debt (at April 18, 2004hag$2.2 billion of unencumbered real estate asgatost)

Our long-term liquidity needs generally include fhading of existing and future development acjivitelective asset acquisitions and
the retirement of mortgage debt, amounts outstgnainder the revolving loan and long-term unsecdedat. We remain committed to
maintaining a flexible capital structure. Accordingve expect to meet our lorigrm liquidity needs through a combination of (19 tssuanc
by the Operating Partnership of additional unsetdebt securities, (2) the issuance of additiogaltg securities by the Company and the
Operating Partnership as well as (3) the sourcesritbed above with respect to our shiern liquidity. We expect to use such sources tet
our long-term liquidity requirements either throudjhect payments or repayment of borrowings underunsecured revolving loan. As
mentioned above, we do not intend to reserve ftmdstire existing secured or unsecured indebtesdapsn maturity. Instead, we will seek
refinance such debt at maturity or retire such diedatugh the issuance of equity or debt securities.

We anticipate that our available cash and cashvetgits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings
and other sources, will be adequate to meet outatamd liquidity needs in both the short and leegn. However, if these sources of funds
are insufficient or unavailable, our ability to pdiyidends to stockholders and satisfy other caghments may be adversely affected.
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Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustdbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rtakiable income. REIT taxable
income, the calculation of which is determined g tederal tax laws, does not necessarily equahneie under GAAP. We generally
expect to use our cash flow from operating actsifior dividends to stockholders and for paymemeofirring capital expenditures. Future
dividends will be made at the discretion of our Bbaf Directors. The following factors will affecur cash flows and, accordingly, influence
the decisions of our Board of Directors regardingdgnds:

» debt service requirements after taking into accoebt covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain indebtednes
» scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

« changes in rents attributable to the renewal dfteng leases or replacement lea:

» changes in occupancy rates at existing propertidse&ecution of leases for newly acquired or dgwetioproperties; an

» operating expenses and capital replacement newtdisding tenant improvements and leasing ct

Share and Unit Repurchase Program

As of March 31, 2004, we had repurchased 12.4anilihares of Common Stock and Common Units at ghtexd average purchase
price of $24.00 per share and a total purchase pfi$297.1 million under our repurchase progranddtermining whether or not to
repurchase additional capital stock, we will corsjdmong other factors, the effect of repurchasesur liquidity and the price of our
Common Stock.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has several off balance sheet joirtuverand guarantee arrangements. The joint venuees formed with unrelated
investors to generate additional capital to fungperty acquisitions, repay outstanding debt or fothetr strategic initiatives and to lessen the
ownership risks typically associated with ownin@ 1% of a property. When we create a joint ventith a strategic partner, we usually
contribute one or more properties that we own tewaly formed entity in which we retain an intere660.0% or less. In exchange for an
equal or minority interest in the joint venture, ganerally receive cash from the partner and rét@rmanagement income relating to the
properties in the joint venture.

At March 31, 2004, our joint ventures had $629.Wiom of total assets and $411.3 million of totiakilities. During the first quarter of
2004, these joint ventures earned $4.3 milliorotdltnet income. We have a 38.8% weighted averggiyeinterest in these joint ventures.
For additional discussion of our joint venture wityi see Note 2 in the Consolidated Financial Stants.

As required by GAAP, we have accounted for ourtjgenture activity using the equity method of aatting, as we do not control the
joint ventures and, as of March 31, 2004, the je@ritures were not deemed variable interest estifie a result, the assets and liabilitie:
our joint ventures are not included on our balasteset and the results of operations of the jointwes are not included on our income
statement, other than as equity in earnings of nsmaated affiliates. In other words, we generallg not liable for the debts of our joint
ventures, except to the extent of our equity inwesit, unless we have directly guaranteed any ofdiiat. In most cases, we and/or our
strategic partners are required to guarantee castoexceptions to non-recourse liability in nonenese loans.
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As of March 31, 2004, our joint ventures had $398ilion of outstanding debt. The following tablets forth the principal payments
due on that outstanding long-term debt as recootettie respective joint venture’s books at March2Z8iD4 ($ in thousands):

Percent
Owned Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

Board of Trade Investment Compa 49.0% $ 704 $ 13¢ $ 19 $ 21¢ $ 152 $§ — $ —
Dallas County Partners ( 50.00% 37,76: 732 1,041 4,41¢ 13,33: 5,76¢ 12,47*
Dallas County Partners Il (: 50.00% 22,16¢ 943 1,37¢ 1,52 1,68¢ 1,86: 14,77¢
Fountain Three (1 50.0(% 29,65: 83t 1,172 1,24: 1,31¢ 6,40( 18,68’
RRHWoods, LLC (1, 50.0(% 66,31: 27¢ 403 431 4,241 381 60,57¢
4600 Madison Associates, | 12.5(% 16,54¢ 53¢ 762 81t 872 93t 12,62t
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 66,98¢ 782 1,107 1,18¢ 1,26¢ 1,35¢ 61,29(
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L 42.9%% 58,85¢ 541 77C 831 897 96¢ 54,84¢
Highwood:«-Markel Associates, LL( 50.00% 39,90: 45¢ 643 682 722 76€ 36,62¢
Concourse Center Associates, L 50.0(% 9,652 13: 18¢ 20z 217 232 8,67¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 21,63 — — — 21,63 — —
SF-HIW Harborview, LF 20.0(% 22,80( — — — 91 37¢ 22,33
Highwoods KC Glenridge Land, L 40.0(% 25C — — 25C — — —
Total $393,22{(2) $ 5,381 $7,66( $11,79% $46,42¢ $19,04. $302,91¢

(1) Des Moines joint venture

(2) All of this joint venture debt is non-recoutseus except (1) in the case of customary excepf@ntaining to such matters as misuse of
funds, environmental conditions and material miggepntations and (2) those guarantees and loaostobin the following
paragraphs

In connection with the Des Moines joint venture igudees, the maximum potential amount of futurenpets we could be required to
make under the guarantees is $25.3 million. Ofahi®unt, $8.6 million arose from housing revenuedsahat require credit enhancement
addition to the real estate mortgages. The bonds@#oating interest rate, which currently ave®.96% and mature in 2015. Guarante
$9.5 million will expire upon two industrial buildgs becoming 93.8% and 95.0% leased. Currentlgethaildings are 90.0% and 64.0%
leased, respectively. The remaining $7.2 milliogirarantees relate to loans on four office builditigat were in the leasgs phase at the tin
the loans were initiated. Each of the loans wilpiex by May 2008. The average occupancy of the baildings at March 31, 2004 is 92.0%.

If the joint ventures are unable to repay the amtding balance under the loans, we will be requineder the terms of the agreements, to
repay the outstanding balance. Recourse provigriss to enable us to recover some or all of ossds from the joint ventures’ assets and/or
the other partner. The joint ventures currentlyegate sufficient cash flow to cover the debt sexviquired by the loans.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventunas renewed our guarantee of $6.2 million to a banluly 2003. The bank
provides a letter of credit securing industrialeewe bonds, which mature in 2015. We would be redub perform under the guarantee
should the joint venture be unable to repay thedboWe have recourse provisions in order to recfreen the joint venture’s assets and the
other partner for amounts paid in excess of oup@rtionate share. The property collateralizinghibads is 100.0% leased and currently
generates sufficient cash flow to cover the debtise required by the bond financing.

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint uestwe have included $2.8 million in other liatiés and adjusted the investment in
unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8 million on ounsolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2004 retatedo separate guarantees of a
construction loan agreement and a construction tetiop agreement. The construction loan maturd=ioruary 2006, with two one-year
options to extend the maturity date that are cémthd on completion and lease-up of the projece Trm of the construction completion
agreement requires the core and shell of the Imgjlth be completed by December 15, 2005. Currethtéybuilding is scheduled to be
completed in December 2004. Both guarantees arosethe formation of the joint venture to constrantoffice building. If the joint venture
is unable to repay the outstanding balance undecdhstruction loan agreement or complete the nget&in of the office building, we would
be required, under the terms of the agreementsptay our 50.0% share of the outstanding balanderuhe construction loan and complete
the construction of the office building. On Mard, 2004, the Industrial Development Authority of @ity of Kansas City, Missouri issued
$18.5 million in non-recourse bonds to finance puishprovements made by the joint venture for teaeddit of the Kansas City Missouri
Public Library. Since the joint venture leasesltmal for the office building from the library foB9ears, the joint venture is obligated to build
certain public improvements. The net
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bond proceeds of $16.3 million will be used to fleimse the joint venture for its costs. As fundsteaasferred from the bond fund to the
construction lender, our exposure is reduced. Taeimmum potential amount of future payments by udenrthese agreements is $27.6 mil

if the construction loan is fully funded. No recseprovisions exist that would enable us to recéreen the other partner amounts paid under
the guarantee. However, given that the loan istaidlized by the building, we and our partner dalitain and liquidate the building to
recover the amounts paid should we be requireétimpn under the guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC construttaman and completion agreement described abogegattners have collectively
provided $12.0 million in letters of credit, $6.0llion by us and $6.0 million by our partner. Wedaour partner would be held liable under
the letter of credit agreements should the joimtwee not complete construction of the buildingeTétters of credit expire in December 31,
2004. No recourse provisions exist that would emaisito recover from the other partner amounts diavder the letter of credit.

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withfiiiated parties have buy/sell options that mayesercised to acquire the other
partners interest by either us or our joint venture partheertain conditions are met as set forth in tegpective joint venture agreement.
partner in SF-HIW Harborview, LP has the right td fis 80.0% equity interest in the partnershipgan cash at anytime during the one-year
period commencing on September 11, 2014. As atresellhave deferred a gain of $1.9 million unti #xpiration of the put option. The
value of the equity interest will be determineddzhapon the then fair market value of SF-HIW Haview, LP assets and liabilities.

On March 2, 2004, we exercised our option and aedwur partner’s 80.0% equity interest in the neiing assets of MG-HIW, LLC,
which are located in the central business distfi@rlando. In January 2004, we signed a Lettdnteint with Kapital-Consult, manager for
Dreilander-Fonds, a European investment firm, umdech Kapital-Consult will acquire a 60.0% equityerest in these properties for
approximately $45.5 million, excluding certain dipnent rights to be retained by us. The joint uemintends to refinance the existing debt
on the properties with a $143.0 million 10-yeaefixate loan. In order to lock the interest ratehennew debt, a $2.9 million deposit was
required, of which we paid approximately $1.2 roifli Although the joint venture transaction is sabje documentation and other closing
conditions, it is expected to close no later thendnd of the second quarter of 2004.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowinggler ou
revolving loan bears interest at variable rateg. |Gng-term debt, which consists of long-term fingmgs and the unsecured issuance of debt
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratesaddition, we have assumed fixed rate and kbieate debt in connection with acquiring
properties. Our interest rate risk management ébgts to limit the impact of interest rate chasga earnings and cash flows and to lower
our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these dhjes, from time to time we enter into intereserbedge contracts such as collars, swaps,
caps and treasury lock agreements in order to atéigur interest rate risk with respect to varidelst instruments.

The following table sets forth information regamgliour interest rate hedge contracts as of Marct2@04 ($ in thousands):

Notional Maturity Fixed Fair Market
Type of Hedge Amount Date Reference Rate Rate Value
Interest Rate Swa $20,00( 6/1/200" 1 month USI-LIBOR-BBA 1.59(% $ (62)
$ (62)

The interest rate on all of our variable rate delstdjusted at one and three month intervals, stibjesettlements under these contracts.
We also enter into treasury lock agreements frome tio time in order to limit our exposure to arr@ase in interest rates with respect to
future debt offerings. During the first quarter2@f04, only a nominal amount was received from ceuparties under interest rate hedge
contracts.
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Related Party Transactions

We have previously reported that we have had a&cinto acquire development land in the Bluegraakey office development project
from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controlled by an extve officer and director of the Company. On Jayul7, 2003, we acquired an additic
23.5 acres of this land from GAPI, Inc. for cask ahares of Common Stock valued at $2.3 milliorMily 2003, 4.0 acres of the remaining
acres not yet acquired by us was taken by the Gebrgpartment of Transportation to develop a roadiwterchange for consideration of
$1.8 million. The Department of Transportation tgassession and title of the property in June 26@8Jart of the terms of the contract
between us and GAPI, Inc., we were entitled toptteeeeds from the condemnation of $1.8 millions ik contracted purchase price betv
us and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned property o7 $fillion. On September 30, 2003, as a result efdbndemnation, we received the
proceeds of $1.8 million. A related party payadié@ 7 million to GAPI, Inc. related to the condeation of the development land is incluc
in accounts payable, accrued expenses and othéitiks in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at M&th2004.

C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

There were no changes to the critical accountitigrages made by management in the three monthglévidech 31, 2004. For a
detailed description of our critical accountingimsttes, see “Management’s Discussion and Analyfgisnancial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates” in oul030Annual Report on Form 10-K.

F unpsF Rom O PERATIONS A ND C ASH A VAILABLE F OR D ISTRIBUTIONS

We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) i=@f several indicators of the performance of antgdREIT. FFO can facilitate
comparisons of operating performance between peaod between other REITs because it excludesrfactiach as depreciation,
amortization and gains and losses from sales bestate assets, which are based on historicabrmsimay be of limited relevance in
evaluating current performance. FFO as discloseotlyr REITs may not be comparable to our calauadf FFO as described below. Cash
available for distribution (“CAD”) is another uséfinancial performance measure of an equity REIAD provides an additional basis to
evaluate the ability of a REIT to incur and senvilebt, fund acquisitions and other capital expemédg and pay distributions. CAD does not
measure whether cash flow is sufficient to funccalih needs. FFO and CAD are non-GAAP financiakmnes and do not represent net
income or cash flows from operating, investinginancing activities as defined by GAAP. They shauid be considered as alternatives to
net income as an indicator of our operating perforog or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity.

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is coreistwith the calculation of FFO as defined by ttagibhal Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (NAREIT), is as follows:

* Netincome (los—computed in accordance with GAA

» Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate indust

» Less gains or plus losses from sales of depric@ierating properties, (excluding impairment ésss-see Note 2 following the
table) and items that are classified as extraordiitems under GAAF

*  Plus minority interest
e Less dividends to preferred sharehold

e Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidatedngaships and joint ventures (to reflect funds frgperations on the same basis);
and

* Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation andréimation, gain/(loss) on sale and minority ingtnelated to discontinued
operations

CAD is defined as FFO reduced by non-revenue enhgmepital expenditures for building improvemeas! tenant improvements and
lease commissions related to second generatioe speaddition, CAD includes both
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recurring and non-recurring operating results. Assalt, non-recurring items that are not definedextraordinary’'under GAAP are reflecte
in the calculation of CAD.

FFO, FFO per share and cash available for distdbdor the three months ended March 31, 2004 &@8Zre summarized in the
following table ($ in thousands, except perstamounts):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2004 2003
Per Share Per Share
Amount Diluted Amount Diluted
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 5,88¢ $ 11,172
Dividends to preferred sharehold (7,719 (7,719
Net (loss)/income attributable to common sharehsl (1,829 $ (0.09 345¢ $ 0.0¢
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate asiets 33,54 0.62 31,21( 0.5¢
(Loss)/gain on disposition of depreciable real testsset® 55 — (20) —
Minority interest in the Operating Partnershipricame from operatior 231 — 93¢ 0.02
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estate asiets 2,27¢ 0.04 2,41° 0.0%
Discontinued operationd:
Depreciation and amortization of real estate asiets 29 — 1,264 0.0z
Gain on sale, net of minority interest in the OpiagaPartnershig?) (3,555 (0.0¢) (118 —
Minority interest in the Operating Partnershipricéme from discontinued
operations 77 — 57¢ 0.01
Funds from operations before amounts allocableitmrity interest in the Operating
Partnershig 30,82¢ 0.57 39,72 0.74
Minority interest in the Operating Partnership umds from operation (3,189 (0.0€) (4,532 (0.0¢)
Funds from operations applicable to common shadeisl| $27,64@ $ 051® $3519. $ 0.6¢
Cash available for distribution:
Funds from operations before amounts allocableitmrity interest in the Operating
Partnershiy $ 30,82¢ $ 39,72:
Add/(Deduct):
Rental income from straig-line rents (2,586 (1,685
Amortization of intangible lease ass 252 —
Depreciation of non-real estate as$®ts 774 82C
Impairment charge — 28¢
Amortization of deferred financing cos 85& 62€
Retirement compensation expense—non-cash pdttion 2,32t —
Non-incremental revenue generating capital expenditi
Building improvements pai (1,76¢) (2,797
Second generation tenant improvements (7,209 (4,48¢)
Second generation lease commissions (5,040 (3,369
(14,01 (10,64")
Cash available for distributic $ 18,43: $ 29,12¢
Dividend payout data:
Dividends paid per common share/common—diluted$0.42¢ $ 0.42¢ $ 0.58¢
Funds from operatior 83.2% 88.6%
Cash available for distributic 138.¢% 121.2%



Weighted average shares outstanding—diltRed 54,06¢ 53,47¢
Weighted average shares/units outstanding—dilGted 60,23¢ 60,36(
Net cash provided by/(used in)

Operating activitie: $ 38,19« $ 38,80¢

Investing activities $(78,847) $(20,18¢)
Financing activitie: $ 39,08« $(10,43))

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivake $ (1,567) $ 8,18i

(1) In connection with the SEC’s adoption of Regjola G, which governs the presentation of non-GA#kRncial measures in documents
filed with the SEC, we revised our definition of ®For 2003 relating to the add-back of non-reahtestiepreciation and amortization.
Our revised definition is in accordance with thérdgon provided by NAREIT. The change reduced FB€&Jore amounts allocable to
minority interest as previously reported by $0.8iom or $0.01 per share for the first quarter 603.
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()

In October 2003, NAREIT issued a Financial Réipg Alert that changed its current implementatipridance for FFO regarding
impairment losses. Accordingly, impairment lossdated to depreciable assets have now been incindgeO for the periods
presented. The following is a reconciliation ofrgébss) on disposition of depreciable real estéatets included in the FFO calculation
and gain/(loss) on disposition of depreciable asisetuded in our Consolidated Statements of Opmraitfor the three months ended
March 31, 2004 and 200

Three Months
Ended March 31,

2004 2003

Continuing Operations:
(Loss)/gain on disposition of depreciable realtestssets per FFO calculati $ (55 $ 20
Impairment losse — —
(Loss)/gain on disposition and impairment of defaiele assets, net per Consolidated Statements exfafpns $ B5 $ 20
Discontinued Operations:
Gain on disposition of depreciable real estatetagmr FFO calculatio $3,65t  $11¢€
Impairment losse — (28¢)
Gain/(loss) on disposition and impairment of dejaiele assets, net per Consolidated Statements efapns $3,55¢  $(170)

As a result of the changes to the FFO calculatioaudlined in footnotes (1) and (2), FFO has beeluced by the following in dollars

and per share amounts:

March 31,
2004 2003
FFO in dollars before amounts allocable to minairitgrest from the Operating Partners ; $1,10¢
FFO per common sha $— $ 0.0z

(3)
(4)

()

(6)

For further discussion related to discontinued afi@ns, see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financatk8tents

As previously announced, Mr. Ron Gibson, Chief Enize Officer and one of our founders, is retirfingm the Company effective Ju
30, 2004. In connection with Mr. Gibs@retirement and as previously disclosed by usBwoard of Directors approved a compensa
package for Mr. Gibson effective upon his retiremés part of the package, Mr. Gibson will receasRimp-sum retirement payment of
$2.2 million, his unvested previously granted stopkions and restricted stock awards will fully ves June 30, 2004 and he will
continue under our insurance programs for severalsy His options will also be modified to remairstanding for their stated terms.
Under GAAP, these arrangements with Mr. Gibsonltésa total charge of $6.3 million, or $0.11 rare, $4.6 million of which was
recorded in the first quarter with the balance bf7$million to be recorded in the second quarte2Qii4.

Options and warrants on 524,000 shares of Cam&tock were not included in the calculation of less per share on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, as their effects welieddntive. However, they are included in the caétion of funds from operations
applicable to Common Shares per share dilutedegswiere not ar-dilutive.

Assumes redemption of Common Units for shares ofi@on Stock. Minority interest Common Unit holdenslahe stockholders of ti
Company share equally on a per Common Unit andipere basis; therefore, the per share informasiemaffected by conversio
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| TEM 3. Q UANTITATIVE AND Q UALITATIVE D ISCLOSURESA BOUT M ARKET R ISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludies “forward-looking statements”
and represents an estimate of possible changas welue or future earnings that would occur asegrhypothetical future movements in
interest rates. These disclosures are not preuikesitors of expected future losses, but only iaitics of reasonably possible losses. As a
result, actual future results may differ materiditym those presented. See “Management’s Discussidrmnalysis of Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” andrtbtes to the consolidated financial statements fidescription of our accounting
policies and other information related to thesaificial instruments.

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowingsler ou
revolving loan bears interest at variable rates.|@ug-term debt, which consists of secured anécu®d long-term financings and the
issuance of unsecured debt securities, typicallymterest at fixed rates. In addition, we hassuened fixed rate and variable rate debt in
connection with acquiring properties. Our intemasé risk management objective is to limit the ictpaf interest rate changes on earnings and
cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing co3is achieve these objectives, from time to timeenter into interest rate hedge contracts
such as collars, swaps, caps and treasury locleagnas in order to mitigate our interest rate wik respect to various debt instruments. We
do not hold or issue these derivative contractdréating or speculative purposes.

As of March 31, 2004, we had approximately $435ilBan of variable rate debt outstanding that was protected by interest rate
hedge contracts. If the weighted average integgstan this variable rate debt is 100 basis pdiigfiser or lower during the 12 months ended
December 31, 2004, our interest expense woulddreased or decreased approximately $4.4 million.

For a discussion of our interest rate hedge costineffect at March 31, 2004 see “Management&ssion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations—Liquidity &apital Resources—Interest Rate Hedging Activitifgnterest rates increase by 100
basis points, the aggregate fair market value egdhinterest rate hedge contracts as of March(®4, ®ould increase by approximately $0.1
million. If interest rates decrease by 100 basistgpthe aggregate fair market value of theseadsterate hedge contracts as of March 31,
would decrease by approximately $0.3 million.

In addition, we are exposed to certain losseseretfent of nonperformance by the counter partieeuthe hedge contracts. We expect
the counter parties, which are major financialitatbns, to perform fully under the contracts. Hoxer, if either of the counter parties was to
default on its obligation under an interest ratddeecontract, we could be required to pay theréi#ts on our debt, even if such rates were in
excess of the rate in the contract.

| TEM 4. C ONTROLS AND P ROCEDURES

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requivdaktdisclosed in our annual and
periodic reports filed with the SEC is recordedygmssed, summarized and reported within the timegm®specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms. These disclosure controls and proceduretudtesr designed to ensure that such informasosccumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Offic&HO") and Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO”), to aotimely decisions regarding
required disclosure. SEC rules require that welakscthe conclusions of our CEO and CFO aboutffleetazeness of our disclosure controls
and procedures.

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our disclosure otsyeind procedures included a review of the cositaiijectives and design, the
controls’ implementation by us and the effect @& tontrols on the information generated for uséis Quarterly Report. In the course of the
evaluation, we sought to identify data errors, maniroblems or acts of fraud and to confirm thaprpriate corrective action, including
process improvements, were being undertaken. Gutodiure controls and procedures are also evaloateth ongoing basis by the followil

« employees in our internal audit departm
» other personnel in our finance organizati
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* members of our internal disclosure commiti
 members of the audit committee of our Board of &liwes; anc
e ourindependent auditors in connection with thagtiband review activities

Among other matters, we sought in our evaluatiodettermine whether there were any “significantaeficies” or “material
weaknesses” in our disclosure controls and proesjar whether we had identified any acts of frawdlving personnel who have a
significant role in our disclosure controls andgedures. In the professional auditing literatusggriificant deficiencies” are referred to as
“reportable conditions,” which are control issuleattcould have a significant adverse effect orafhilty to record, process, summarize and
report financial data in the financial statemeAtSmaterial weakness” is defined in the auditingdature as a particularly serious reportable
condition where the internal control does not rediaca relatively low level the risk that misstaets caused by error or fraud may occur in
amounts that would be material in relation to tharficial statements and not be detected withimelyi period by employees in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions.

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, doesxpsct that our disclosure controls and proceduaiéprevent all error and all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well coneéiand operated, can provide only reasonable,lrsatigte, assurance that the objective
the control system are met. Further, the desigtismlosure controls and procedures must reflectabithat there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be considereativel to their costs. Because of the inherent &tiahs in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance thabalirol issues and instances of fraud, if anyhinithe Company have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities thatguaents in decision-making can be faulty, and thehkdowns can occur because of a simple
error or mistake. Additionally, controls can becaimvented by the individual acts of some persopgdtiusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls also is based in part upetaceassumptions about the likelihooc
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gamlder all potential future conditions.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-aféeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraard may occur and not be detected.

Based on the most recent evaluation, which was tmiatghas of March 31, 2004, our CEO and CFO belikatour disclosure controls
and procedures are effective to ensure that mabeft@mationrelating to us and our consolidated subsidiariesdde known to manageme
including the CEO and CFO, particularly during reziod when our periodic reports are being prepaaad that our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to provide reasonableraisse that our financial statements are fairly @nésd in conformity with GAAP.

Since the date of this most recent evaluationgthewve been no significant changes in our intevoalrols or in other factors that could
significantly affect the internal controls subsenfu® the date we completed our evaluation.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

| TEM 2. C HANGES IN SECURITIES AND U SE OF P ROCEEDS

During the three months ended March 31, 2004, tragany issued 2,308 shares of Common Stock todehof Common Units in the
Operating Partnership upon the redemption of sumih@on Units in a private offering pursuant to Smti(2) of the Securities Act. The
holder of the Common Units was an accredited imrastder Rule 501 of the Securities Act. The Comygdaas registered the resale of such
shares under the Securities Act.

| TEM 6. E xHIBITS AND R EPORTSO N F ORM 8-K

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit No. Description
10.14 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among HigtisvBealty Limited Partnership, Highwoods Propetties, the
Subsidiaries named therein and the Lenders naneeelith dated as of March 29, 2C

12.1 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges Calculal

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sael-Oxley Act

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sael-Oxley Act

32.1 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

32.2 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On April 2, 2004, the Company filed a current regor Form 8-K, reporting under Item 5 the Compamytsss release announcing
certain information regarding the pending retiretradrthe Company’s Chief Executive Officer.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

H IGHWOODSP ROPERTIES, | NC.

By: /sl RoONALD P. GIBSON
Ronald P. Gibson
Chief Executive Officer
By: /sl TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: May 10, 2004
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Exhibit 10.14

FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT dated aéMarch 29, 2004 (the “ First Amendmeéit is by and among
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, a North Caiiak limited partnership (* Highwoods Realy HHGHWOODS
PROPERTIES, INC., a Maryland corporation (“ HighwisdPropertie$), HIGHWOODS FINANCE, LLC, a Delaware limited lidhy
company (* Highwoods Financg HIGHWOODS SERVICES, INC., a North Carolina corption (* Highwoods Service$, and
HIGHWOODS/TENNESSEE HOLDINGS, L.P., a Tennesseétdichpartnership (* Highwoods Tennes$géHighwoods Realty, Highwoods
Properties, Highwoods Finance, Highwoods Serviaed,Highwoods Tennessee are hereinafter referrediitadually as a “ Borrowet and
collectively as the “ Borrowery, the subsidiaries of the Borrowers identified onghgnature pages to the Credit Agreement referehetmv
or joined as parties thereto pursuant to Sectib@ thereof (such Subsidiaries are hereinafter nedeto individually as a “ Guarantband
collectively as the “ Guarantot} the Lenders (as defined in the Credit AgreefieBANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
for the Lenders (in such capacity, the * Adminigtr@ Agent”), BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, as Sole Lead ranger (in such
capacity, the “ Sole Lead Arranggrand Sole Book Manager (in such capacity, theteSBook Managet), WELLS FARGO BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Syndication Agent (in suchpacity, the* Syndication Agent) and BRANCH BANKING & TRUST
COMPANY and FLEET NATIONAL BANK OF AMERICA, as Co-Bcumentation Agents (in such capacity, the “ Docotation Agent’),
and is an amendment to that certain Amended anthfed<Credit Agreement dated as of July 17, 200&ruyamong the Borrowers,
Guarantors, Lenders, Administrative Agent, Soled_Aaranger, Sole Book Manager, Syndication Agemnt Bocumentation Agent (as the
same may have been further amended, restated esuppied or otherwise modified prior to the datebgrthe “ Credit Agreemeri).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS , each of the Borrowers and the Guarantors haweestgd and the Lenders and Administrative Agene lzeyreed to amer
the Credit Agreement on the terms and conditioh$osth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE , for good and valuable consideration, the recefipthich is hereby acknowledged by the parties toetbe
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Amendments to Credit Agreement

(&) The definition of “ Adjusted NO1contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreemisritereby deleted in its entirety and
replaced with the following:

“ Adjusted NOI" means, with respect to any applicable time perwdifly Property, an amount, not less than zerce()a
to: (a) Net Operating Income for such period wehkpect to such Property l€b3 the sum of (i) the Capital Expenditure Reserve
amount for such Property during such period, fiiji& management fee in the amount of three per@&) of total revenues
derived from the Property during such period; pded, that such amount shall be exclusive of anysaatjent for such period
attributable to the Straight-Lining of Rents; pred, further, that, in each case, (i) all amoumttuded in the above calculations
(and not otherwise adjusted for interests in Mityoliterest Entities) shall be adjusted to accdanany amounts attributable to
any interests held by any Consolidated Party inMimprity Interest Entity and (ii) all amounts inled in the above calculations
(and not otherwise adjusted to account for OutBitkrests) shall be adjusted to deduct therefrapto rata share of such
amounts allocable to Outside Interests.”

(b) The definition of “ Capitalization Ratecontained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreemisritereby deleted in its entirety and
replaced with the following:

“* Capitalization Rat” means eight and one half of one percent (8.50%gmwith respect to calculations involving -




Adjusted NOI related to the CC Plaza Project, inclitase the “Capitalization Rate” shall be eigéricent (8%); provided,
however, that the Capitalization Ri



(both generally and for the CC Plaza Project) dhalteviewed annually and shall be subject to amalnadjustment of not more
than one quarter of one percent (0.25%) by the iBuggerity Lenders in their sole discretion basedruparket conditions for
comparable property types. No adjustment pursuathtet previous sentence shall occur until on araftily 1, 2005 and, followir
any such adjustment, no further adjustment to tyeit@lization Rate shall occur until the passagenaf (1) calendar year
following such adjustment.”

(c) The following definition of “ CC Plaza Projetis hereby inserted into Section 1.1 of the Crédjteement in the proper
alphabetical order:

““ CC Plaza Project means that certain development known as Counilinp @laza located at 310 Ward Parkway, Kansas
City Missouri 64112 and owned by Highwoods Realty.”

(d) The definition of “ Facility Fee Modifiet contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreemisittereby deleted in its entirety and
replaced with the following:

“ Facility Fee Modifier” means, for any date of calculation, a per annencgntage equal to the sum of (a) to the extent the
TL/TA Ratio, as most-recently properly calculatedguant to any officer’s certificate delivered puast to Section 7.1(c) hereof,
exceeds the FFM Threshold, three tenths of oneepe(6.30%), plugb) to the extent the Interest Coverage Ratio, astrecently
properly calculated pursuant to any officer’s dadite delivered pursuant to Section 7.1(c) herisdgss than 2.15 to 1.00, one
quarter of one percent (0.25%), ple} to the extent the Fixed Charge Coverage Rasianost-recently properly calculated
pursuant to any officer’s certificate delivered suant to Section 7.1(c) hereof, is less than 1060Q0, one quarter of one percent
(0.25%); provided, however, that to the extent eafatiauses (b) and (c) of this definition wouldhetwise each require a one
quarter of one percent (0.25%) increase in thelifaEiee Modifier (for a total of one half of oneeent (0.50%)), the total
increase in the Facility Fee Modifier as a restithe application of clauses (b) and (c) shalllire¢ tenths of one percent
(0.30%).”

(e) The following definition of “ FFM Thresholtis hereby inserted into Section 1.1 of the Crédjteement in the proper
alphabetical order:

““ EEM Threshold” means 52.5%; provided, that the FFM Thresholdl &isincreased or decreased concurrently with any
increase or decrease in the Capitalization Ratelwisiagreed to by the Lenders pursuant to thestefrthe definition thereof,
such increase or decrease to be in an amount &qfiad (5) multiplied by the number of basis paifivhether positive or
negative) by which the Capitalization Rate is clehd-or purposes of clarification and exampleif(dje Capitalization Rate is
increased from 8.50% to 8.60%, the FFM Thresholtdmadve from 52.5% to 53.0%; and (b) if the Capi#ation Rate is decreas
from 8.50% to 8.40%, the FFM Threshold will moverfr 52.5% to 52.0%.”

(d) The definition of “ Net Incom&contained in Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreemisritereby deleted in its entirety and replaced
with the following:

“ Net Income” means, for any period, the sum of (a) net incgexeluding extraordinary gains and losses ande@lttx
effects thereto) after taxes for such period ofGlo@solidated Parties on a consolidated basisgtsrdined in accordance with
GAAP, plus (b) without duplication, an amount eqteathat portion attributable to Highwoods Realfytee line item “minority
interests” relating to operating partnership ufotssuch period, as shown on the consolidated ircstatements of the
Consolidated Parties, plus (c) without duplicatian,amount equal to the aggregate of net inconau@ixg extraordinary gains
and losses and related tax effects thereof) aftexstfor such period, as determined in accordaitbeGAAP, of each Minority
Interest Entity multiplied by the respective Mirtgrinterest of each such entity; provided, howetleat notwithstanding anything
contained herein to the contrary, (i) (A) the aggite amount of gains resulting from Asset Disposgiof the consolidated Parties
and included in the calculation of “Net Income” Bmat exceed $5,000,000 for any fiscal quartergioy portion thereof) included
in the applicable calculation




period (on a gross basis, without netting for lsssesociated with other Asset Dispositions durirghgiscal quarter or any other
time during the applicable calculation period); §Bjlthe aggregate amount of losses resulting ff@set Dispositions of the
consolidated Parties and included in the calcutatio’Net Income” shall not exceed $5,000,000 foy éiscal quarter (or any
portion thereof) included in the applicable caltiola period (on a gross basis, without nettinggains associated with other Asset
Dispositions during such fiscal quarter or any otitae during the applicable calculation period)i i) gains and losses resulting
from an Asset Disposition involving the Highwood®$erve Properties shall be calculated solely fiopgses of determining the
amount thereof to be included within “Net Incomeider this Credit Agreement (such amount to be stibjethe limitations set
forth in the preceding clause (i) in all eventsngshe appraised value (as reflected in the mexstt appraisal delivered to and
accepted by the Administrative Agent) as the bwgseof for so long as the value of such Propeisigletermined in accordance
with clause (h)(i) of the definition of Total Asset

(f) The following definition of “ Restricted Peridds hereby inserted into Section 1.1 of the Crédjteement in the proper
alphabetical order:

““ Restricted Period means any period of time during which the Borresvieave, as a direct result of an adjustment of the
Capitalization Rate by the Lenders in accordandh thie terms of the definition of such term (andrfo other reason), failed to
meet any of the financial covenants set forth Imemaibject to the following: (a) each such peribdliscommence as of the first ¢
on which any such adjustment occurs and no Restrieeriod shall exist with respect to a given adjest in the Capitalization
Rate to the extent such adjustment does not, deedirst day on which such adjustment occurs, edlas Borrowers to fail to me
any of the financial covenants set forth hereird @) a Restricted Period in effect with respeany given adjustment in the
Capitalization Rate shall end on the earlier ofH(@ date occurring one hundred twenty (120) days\iing the date of the
applicable adjustment and (ii) the date on whiehBlrrower is again in compliance with all fina@avenants which were
previously violated as a result of such adjustnient.

(g) Section 5.2(d) of the Credit Agreement is hgreébleted in its entirety and replaced with thédfeing:

“No Default, Event of Default or (except in the easf the extension of a Loan that is already ontfiteg) Restricted Period
shall exist and be continuing either prior to deafjiving effect thereto;’

(e) Section 7.11(e) of the Credit Agreement is bgideleted in its entirety and replaced with thikofeing:
“(e) Fixed Charge Coverage Ratiét all times, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratidldieagreater than 1.50 to 1.00.”
(h) Section 9.1(c)(i) of the Credit Agreement isdi®y deleted in its entirety and replaced withftiiowing:

“(i) default in the due performance or observantany term, covenant or agreement contained ini@ec?.2, 7.4(a), 7.9,
7.11, 7.12 or 8.1 through 8.17, inclusive; provideowever, that if the Credit Parties default infpemance or observance of any
financial covenant set forth in Section 7.11 hesmiély as a result of an adjustment of the Capétibn Rate by the Lenders in
accordance with the terms of the definition of sterin (and for no other reason), such resultariatian of such financial
covenants shall not constitute an Event of Defagiteunder to the extent the Borrower cures sudhtions within a period of one
hundred twenty (120) days following such adjustmerit

2. Conditions Precedent The effectiveness of this First Amendment is sutti@ceceipt by the Administrative Agent of eachlod
following, each in form and substance satisfactorthe Administrative Agent:

(a) a counterpart of this First Amendment duly exed by each of: the Borrowers, Guarantors and iSuggerity Lenders;
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(b) payment by Borrowers of (i) any fees requirgdhe Administrative Agent or Sole Lead Arrangecannection with this First
Amendment, (ii) a fee to each Lender executingdelivering its signature page to this First Amendtrte the Administrative Agent ¢
or before April 8, 2004, such fee for a particllander to be in an amount equal to 0.05% timesrtAeimum amount of such Lender’s
Revolving Commitment, (iii) all other outstandinges and expenses of the Administrative Agent aad\thministrative Agens counse
incurred in connection with the preparation of thisst Amendment, (iv) all other fees and expenmséting to the preparation, execul
and delivery of this First Amendment or otherwiskated to the Credit Agreement or the Credit Docusievhich are due and payable
of the date hereof, including, without limitatiggayment to the Administrative Agent of attorneysed, consultants’ fees, travel
expenses, all fees and expenses associated witttqamsactions entered into or contemplated bybeteeen Borrowers and the
Administrative Agent and (v) all other fees and exges due and then-owing from the Borrowers tdthainistrative Agent and
Lenders pursuant to the terms hereof, the terniseo€redit Agreement and the terms of the othediCEBocuments; and

(c) such other documents, instruments and agresmasrthe Administrative Agent may reasonably refques

3. Representations Each of the Borrowers and each of the Guarantdisctively represent and warrant to the AdministatAgent
and the Lenders that:

(a) Authorization Each of the Borrowers and each of the Guarantespectively, has the right and power and hasrddaall
authorizations necessary to execute and deliverFinst Amendment and to perform its respectivégaltions hereunder and under the
Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendnieaccordance with their respective terms. Hiist Amendment has been duly
executed and delivered by a duly authorized officéreach of the Borrowers and each Guarantoreotisely, and each of this First
Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amendeli®yirst Amendment, is a legal, valid and binditigation of each of the
Borrowers and each Guarantor (each as applicasi&rceable against each of the Borrowers and @aenantor (each as applicable
accordance with its respective terms, except asahee may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, atfér similar laws affecting the
rights of creditors generally and by equitable gipies generally.

(b) Compliance with Laws, etcThe execution and delivery by each of the Bormsveand each of the Guarantors of this First
Amendment and the performance by each of the Bam®wand/or the Guarantors of this First Amendmadtthe Credit Agreement, as
amended by this First Amendment, in accordance thighr respective terms, does not and will notth®ypassage of time, the giving of
notice or otherwise: (i) require any approval (otthen those already obtained) by any Governmeénitiority or violate any law
(including any Environmental Law) which is appliabo a Borrower, any Guarantors, any Consolid&ady, the Credit Documents or
the transactions contemplated herein or thera)nggnflict with, result in a breach of or constiéa default under the organizational
documents of any Borrower, any of the Guaranto@grother Consolidated Party, or any indenturesegent/or other instrument to
which any Borrower, any of the Guarantors or ameotConsolidated Party is a party or by which iaoy of its respective properties
may be bound; or (iii) result in or require theatien or imposition of any Lien upon or with resprany property now owned or
hereafter acquired by any Borrower, any Guarant@ang other Consolidated Party other than in faaxfdhe Administrative Agent for
the benefit of the Lenders; and

(c) No Default. No Default or Event of Default has occurred asmdantinuing as of the date hereof nor will existriediately after
giving effect to this First Amendment.

4. Reaffirmation of Representations Each of the Borrowers and each of the Guarantaeblygepeat and reaffirm all representations
and warranties made by such party to the Admirtisgadgent and the Lenders in the Credit Agreenaemt the other Credit Documents to
which it is a party on and as of the date herettifdjothan any representation or warranty exprassfifing to an earlier date) with the same
force and effect as if such representations andanties were set forth in this First Amendmentuhh. f
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5. Reaffirmation of Guaranty . Each of the Guarantors hereby reaffirms its comigobligations to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders under the Credit Agreement and agreeshbdtansactions contemplated by this First Amendrakall not in any way affect the
validity and enforceability of their respective gaaty obligations thereunder or reduce, impairiscliarge the obligations of such Guarantors
thereunder.

6. Severability. If any provision of any of this First Amendmentairthe Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, isrdeted to be
illegal, invalid or unenforceable, such provisidrak be fully severable and the remaining provisishall remain in full force and effect and
shall be construed without giving effect to thedglal, invalid or unenforceable provisions.

7. Certain References Each reference to the Credit Agreement in any ®Qhedit Documents shall be deemed to be a referenihe
Credit Agreement as amended by this First Amendraedtthis First Amendment shall be deemed a CBaatitiment for purposes of the
application of provisions of the Credit Agreemeangrally applicable thereto (including, without ifiation, any arbitration provisions or
waiver provisions).

8. Expenses The Borrowers shall reimburse the AdministrativeeAgupon demand for all reasonable costs and egpéimluding
reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by the Adrratize Agent in connection with the preparatioagatiation and execution of this First
Amendment and the other agreements and documesttstexi and delivered in connection herewith.

9. Benefits. This First Amendment shall be binding upon andlshate to the benefit of the parties hereto arartrespective
successors and assigns.

10. Default. The failure of any of the Borrowers or any of thea@antors to perform any of their respective obigges under this First
Amendment or the material falsity of any represgomaor warranty made herein shall, at the optibthe Administrative Agent and/or
Lenders (as determined in accordance with the Chegteement) after expiration of any applicableecperiod, constitute an Event of Default
under the Credit Documents.

11. No Novation. The parties hereto intend this First Amendmentidence the amendments to the terms of the existihgptedness
of the Borrowers and Guarantors to the Lenderpasifically set forth herein and do riatend for such amendments to constitute a novation
in any manner whatsoever.

12. GOVERNING LAW . THIS FIRST AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONBRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA APPOABLE TO CONTRACTS EXECUTED, AND TO BE FULLY
PERFORMED, IN SUCH STATE.

13. No Implied Agreements Except as expressly herein amended, the termsamitions of the Credit Agreement and the other
Credit Documents remain in full force and effedteTamendments contained herein shall be deemexl&pnospective application only,
unless otherwise specifically stated herein.

14. Counterparts. This First Amendment may be executed in any nurobeounterparts, each of which when so executed and
delivered shall be an original, but all of whictaBltonstitute one and the same instrument. It sfedlbe necessary in making proof of this
First Amendment to produce or account for more tha@ such counterpart for each of the parties bebalivery by facsimile by any of the
parties hereto of an executed counterpart of tingg§ Amendment shall be as effective as an origixalcuted counterpart hereof and shall be
deemed a representation that an original executedterpart hereof will be delivered. Each countdrpareof shall be deemed to be an
original and shall be binding upon all parties,itiseccessors and assigns.

15. Binding Effect. This First Amendment shall become effective adefdate hereof at such time when all of the comaitiset forth
in Section 2 hereof have been satisfied or waiwethb Lenders and it shall have been executeddBthrowers, the Guarantors and the
Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent



shall have received copies hereof (telefaxed aerotise) which, when taken together, bear the sigratof the Supermajority Lenders, and
thereafter this Credit Agreement shall be bindipgruand inure to the benefit of the Borrowers,@uarantors, the Administrative Agent and
each Lender and their respective successors aighgssss

16. Release Each Credit Party hereby represents and warraatstthas no claims, counterclaims, offsets, oedsés to the Credit
Agreement or any of the Credit Documents, or topl¢ormance of their respective obligations thaedsw and, in consideration of the
Lenders’ and Administrative Agent’s willingnessgmnt the amendment referenced herein, herebysedahe Administrative Agent, the
Lenders, the Sole Lead Arranger, the Sole Book Idanahe Syndication Agent and the Documentatioari@nd each of their respective
officers, employees, representatives, agents, ebansl directors from any and all actions, cau$egion, claims, demands, damages and
liabilities of whatever kind or nature, in law or @quity, now known or unknown, suspected or unsciggl to the extent that any of the
foregoing arises from any action or failure to @ctor prior to the date hereof.

17. Definitions. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined heraia used herein with the respective definitionggithem in the
Credit Agreement. The interpretive provisions setfin Sections 1.2 and 1.3 of the Credit Agreetnsball apply to this First Amendment as
though set forth herein.

[Signature Pages to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties heretodaased a counterpart of this First Amendment tdubg executed and deliver:

as of the date written above.

BORROWERS:

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
By: Highwoods Properties, In

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS SERVICES, INC.

HIGHWOODS FINANCE, LLC

By: Highwoods Properties, In
HIGHWOODS/TENNESSEE HOLDINGS, L.P.
By: Highwoods/Tennessee Properties,

By: /sl Edward J. Fritsch

Name Edward J. Fritscl
Title:  Presiden

(Signatures continued on next page)



GUARANTORS: HIGHWOODS/FLORIDA GP CORP.

HIGHWOODS/TENNESSEE PROPERTIES, INC.
HIGHWOODS/FLORIDA HOLDINGS, L.P.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
PINELLAS NORTHSIDE PARTNERS, LTD.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.f

By:  Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
RED RUN ASSOCIATES LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

By: Highwoods Properties, In
WINSTON-SALEM INDUSTRIAL, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

By: Highwoods Properties, In
TAMPA TECH PRESERVE, LLC
By: 581 Highwoods, L.

By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.F

By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|

MARLEY CONTINENTAL HOMES OF KANSAS, L.L.C.
By: Highwoods Properties, In
SOUTH PARK LAND, LLC

By: Challenger, Inc
MG-HIW, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

By: Highwoods Properties, In
SOUTHWIND LAND HOLDINGS, LLC
By: AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, L

By: Highwoods Realty GP Cor
AP SOUTHEAST PORTFOLIO PARTNERS, L.P.

By: Highwoods Realty GP Cor
HIGHWOODS REALTY GP CORP.
HIGHWOODS KC GLENRIDGE, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst

By: Highwoods Properties, In
PINELLAS BAY VISTA PARTNERS, LTD.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.f

By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|

(Signatures continued on next page)



DOWNTOWN CLEARWATER TOWER, LTD.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
SISBROS, LTD.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
SHOCKOE PLAZA INVESTORS, L.C.
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
RC ONE LLC
By: Highwoods Services, In
HPI TITLE AGENCY, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
ALAMEDA TOWERS DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
CHALLENGER, INC.
GUARDIAN MANAGEMENT, INC.
HIGHWOODS/CYPRESS COMMONS LLC
By: AP Southeast Portfolio Partners, L
By: Highwoods Realty GP Cor
HIGHWOODS/INTERLACHEN HOLDINGS, L.P.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
4600 COX ROAD LLC
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|
PLAZA GIFT CARD, LLC
By: Highwoods Services, In
HIGHWOODS CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, LLC
By: Highwoods Services, In

(Signatures continued on next page



HIGHWOODS DLF, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

HIGHWOODS DLF II, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

PAPEC RICHMOND I, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

PAPEC WESTON I, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

PAPEC WESTON II, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

PAPEC WESTON I, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

HARBORVIEW PLAZA, LLC

By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.f
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|

SPI BROOKFIELD I, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

SPI BROOKFIELD II, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

SPI BUSINESS HOLDINGS, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

SPI CENTURY PLAZA I, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

SPI JEFFERSON VILLAGE, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

SPI TRADEPORT OFFICE lll, LLC

By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In

(Signatures continued on next page)



SPI RALEIGH CORPORATE CENTER, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
HIGHWOODS COLONNADE, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
SPI TRADEPORT PLACE V, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
HIWTP, LLC
By: Highwoods Services, In
MG-HIW PEACHTREE CORNERS IlI, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
GROVE PARK SQUARE, LLC
By: HIGHWOODS SERVICES, INC
HIGHWOODS WELLNESS CENTER, LLC
By: HIGHWOODS SERVICES, INC
HIGHWOODS 3322, LLC
By HIGHWOODS/FLORIDA HOLDINGS, L.P
By: HIGHWOODS/FLORIDA GP CORF
NICHOLS PLAZA WEST, INC.
OZARK MOUNTAIN VILLAGE, INC.
4551 COX ROAD LLC
By: HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED
PARTNERSHIF
By: HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, IN(
MG-HIW METROWEST |, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
MG -HIW METROWEST II, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
5525 GRAY STREET, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
HIGHWOODS SITUS II, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
BAY CENTER I, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
BAY CENTER II, LLC
By: Highwoods Realty Limited Partnerst
By: Highwoods Properties, In
581 HIGHWOODS, L.P.
By: Highwoods/Florida Holdings, L.
By: Highwoods/Florida GP Cor|

By: /s/ Edward J. Fritsch

Name Edward J. Fritscl
Title: Presiden

[signature pages continued



LENDERS/AGENTS :

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
individually in its capacity as a Lend
and in its capacity as Administrative Age

By: /s! Will T. Bowers

Name Will T. Bowers
Title:  Principal

BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC,
individually in its capacity as Sole Lead Arranger
and Sole Book Manag:

By: /sl Wesley G. Carter

Name Wesley G. Carte
Title:  Vice Presiden

[signature pages continue



WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
individually in its capacity as a Lend
and in its capacity as Syndication Ag

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY
individually in its capacity as a Lend
and as a C-Documentation Ager

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



FLEET NATIONAL BANK
individually in its capacity as a Lend
and as a C-Documentation Ager

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



AMSOUTH BANK
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



SOUTHTRUST BANK
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



RBC CENTURA BANK
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:

Name

Title:

[signature pages continue



Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before minority

interest
Interest expens
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Total earnings
Fixed charges and preferred stock dividends
Interest expens
Interest capitalize
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Total fixed charges
Preferred stock dividenc
Total fixed charges and preferred stock dividend:
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and
preferred stock dividends

UNION PLANTERS BANK
individually in its capacity as a Lend

By:
Name

Title:

[end of signature page

EXHIBIT 12.1
Highwoods Properties, Inc.
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and
Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charge and
Preferred Stock Dividends
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months
Ended March 31 Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
1,89: 26,11¢ 68,25 122,99¢ 126,12¢ 141,44¢
26,057 111,19: 109,51: 105,49: 113,30¢ 121,65:
85E 3,07¢ 1,39¢ 2,00¢ 2,51z 2,82%
28,80¢ 140,38¢ 179,15¢ 230,49:. 241,94° 265,92
26,05" 111,19: 109,51: 105,49: 113,30¢ 121,65:
11F 1,19t 7,017 16,947 23,66¢ 29,147
85E 3,07¢ 1,39: 2,00t 2,51z 2,82:
27,021 115,46¢ 117,92: 124,44: 139,48° 153,62:
7,718 30,85: 30,85: 31,50( 32,58( 32,58(
34,74( 146,31¢ 148,77: 155,94: 172,06’ 186,20:
1.07 1.22 1.52 1.8 1.7¢ 1.7¢
0.8¢ 0.9¢ 1.2C 1.4¢ 1.41 1.4z
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Ronald P. Gibson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagsantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, tesaf operations and cash flows of the Registeantf, and for, the periods

presented in this quarterly repc

4.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

€)) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this quarterhpoet is being preparei

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this



report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal year that has naftgaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weesses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: May 10, 2004

/s/ RONALD P. GIBSON

Ronald P. Gibson
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties In¢

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report da#santain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fi
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the Registesntf, and for, the periods
presented in this quarterly repc

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, paitidy during the period in which this quarterlyuwet is being prepare:

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal year that has riadgaffected, or is reasonably likely to matelyadffect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioriernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions!

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Regyistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ine@\management or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: May 10, 2004

/sl

TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Traas!

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwad@roperties, Inc. (tH*Compan™) on Form 1-Q for the period ended March @



2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ronaldsibson, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 ICS8 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ Ronald P. Gibson

Ronald P. Gibson
Chief Executive Officer
May 10, 2004

Exhibit 32.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwederoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Qtfa period ended March 31,
2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange C@sion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, TdrnStevens, Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9l Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/s| TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasur

May 10, 200<

End of Filing
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